Council

AGENDA

Kent County Council

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL

Tuesday, 26th February, 2013, at 1.30 pm Ask for: Andrew Tait
The Large Hall, Swalecliffe and Community Telephone 01622 694342
Association, 19 St John's Road, Herne Bay

CT5 2QU

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting
Membership

Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr R A Pascoe (Vice-Chairman), Mr H J Craske,
Mr S J G Koowaree and Mr R J Lees

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

1. Membership and Substitutes
2. Declarations of Interest by Members for items on the agenda

3. Application to register land at Ursuline Drive at Westgate as a new Village Green
(Pages 1 - 26)

4. Application to register land known as Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable as a new
Village Green (Pages 27 - 72)

5. Other items which the Chairman decides are Urgent

EXEMPT ITEMS

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services
(01622) 694002

Monday, 18 February 2013






Agenda ltem 3

Application to register land at Ursuline Drive
at Westgate-on-Sea as a new Village Green

A report by the Head of Regulatory Services to Kent County Council’s Regulation
Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 26™ February 2013.

Recommendation: | recommend that a non-statutory Public Inquiry be held into
the case to clarify the issues.

Local Member: Mr. R. Burgess Unrestricted item

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land at Ursuline Drive at
Westgate-on-Sea as a new Town or Village Green from local resident Mr. G.
Rickett (“the applicant”). The application, made on 28" November 2011, was
allocated reference number VGAG641. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to
this report and a copy of the application form is attached at Appendix B.

Procedure

2. The application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and the
Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008.

3. Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a
Commons Registration Authority to register land as a Town or Village Green where
it can be shown that:

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests:
* Use of the land has continued ‘as of right’ until at least the date of
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or
* Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than two years prior to the
date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section
15(3) of the Act).

5. As a standard procedure set out in the Regulations, the Applicant must notify the
landowner of the application and the County Council must notify every local
authority. The County Council must also publicise the application in a newspaper
circulating in the local area and place a copy of the notice on the County Council’s
website. In addition, as a matter of best practice rather than legal requirement, the
County Council also places copies of the notice on site to provide local people with
the opportunity to comment on the application. The publicity must state a period of
at least six weeks during which objections and representations can be made.

Page 1



The application site

6.

7.

The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of a field
of approximately 2.4 acres (0.9 hectares) in size situated to the rear of property
numbers 1 to 21 Ursuline Drive at Westgate-on-Sea. A plan showing the application
site is attached at Appendix A.

Access to the application site is currently via a gap in the hedge along Public
Footpath TM26 which connects Ursuline Drive with Canterbury Road.

The case

8.

The application has been made on the grounds that the application site has
become a Town or Village Green by virtue of the actual use of the land by the local
inhabitants for a range of recreational activities ‘as of right’ for more than 20 years.

The applicant states that the land has been in existence as an open space since
the Second World War and has been a popular venue for local residents. The land
has been used by the nearby King Ethelbert School for sports, but it is mostly used
by local residents for recreational activities throughout the year. According to the
applicant, the land was owned by Kent County Council who disposed of it to the
governing body of King Ethelbert School in February 2010. He explains that no part
of the land has ever had any notices to indicate that the public use was restricted.
The land has been regularly used for walking and dog walking, as well as families
playing ball games. Older people have used the land to sit and relax whilst families
have picnicked and camped there.

10.In support of the application, 71 user evidence questionnaires were submitted

detailing the recreational use of the application site. Also included were various
plans and photographs of the application site, correspondence with KCC’s Property
Group confirming the disposal of the site in February 2010, details of previous
planning applications relation to the site, an email of support from the Kent Wildlife
Trust, a newspaper cutting from 2005 regarding proposed development of the site,
a petition containing 177 signatures in support of Village Green registration and a
letter of support from the Westgate and Westbrook Residents Association
confirming use by local people for at least 20 years.

11.A summary of the user evidence questionnaires submitted in support of the

application (prepared by the applicant) is attached at Appendix C.

Consultations

12.Consultations have been carried out as required.

13.Mr. S. Thomas, Planning Manager at Thanet District Council, wrote to confirm that

his Council has no objection to the application. He added that ‘it is understood that
the land has been well used by local people, including for football, cycling and dog
walking and also occasional events. The area also contains significant wildlife and
as such positively contributes to the quality of the local environment’.

14.District Councillor J. Hibbert also wrote to confirm her full support for the

application. She stated that ‘for many, many years the residents of Westgate-on-

Page 2



Sea have used this area for recreational purposes, many of them having grown up
in the area and played there as children, while others use it for walking their dogs or
simply for family outings (walks, picnics etc). It is a safe and enclosed area, away
from traffic’. She added that the land was home to many species of wildlife and as
such it was essential that the area be preserved as an open space.

Landowner

15.The application site is owned by the Dane Court Grammar and King Ethelbert
School Trust (“the landowner”) and is registered with the Land Registry under title
number K924217.

16.An objection to the application has been received from Winckworth Sherwood LLP,

solicitors acting on behalf of the landowner. The objection is made on the following

grounds:

e That use of the application site has not been ‘as of right’ as there have been
verbal challenges made to use of the site by dog walkers;

e That use of the application site has not been such to indicate to a reasonable
landowner that the local residents have been asserting a continuous right;

e That the evidence in support of the application is skeletal and deficient, with little
information as to frequency or intensity of use;

e That the overgrown state of the application site supports the contention that
recreational use has been minimal;

e That the neighbourhood relied upon by the applicant does not possess the
degree of cohesiveness required to make it a qualifying neighbourhood; and

e That before any decision is taken the matter should be referred to Public Inquiry
for further consideration.

Legal tests

17.In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County

Council must consider the following criteria:

(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'?

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and
pastimes?

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality?

(d) Whether use of the land ‘as of right’ by the inhabitants is continuing up until the
date of application or within two years from when use ‘as of right’ ceased?

(e) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more?

| shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually:
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'?

18.The definition of the phrase ‘as of right’ has been considered by the House of
Lords. Following the judgement in the Sunningwell1 case, it is considered that if a
person uses the land for a required period of time without force, secrecy or
permission (“nec vi, nec clam, nec precario”), and the landowner does not stop him
or advertise the fact that he has no right to be there, then rights are acquired.

" R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385
Page 3



19. The evidence submitted in support of the application suggests that recreational use
of the application site has taken place without any challenge from the landowner
throughout the relevant twenty year period. None of the witnesses refer to any
challenge (verbal, physical or otherwise) to their use of the application site. The
applicant’'s position is that no part of the application site has ever had any
prohibitive notices in place, nor has access to it ever been restricted in any way to
the public. It has been used for recreational activities ‘as of right’ since as far back
as the Second World War.

20.The landowner does not consider that use of the application site has taken place
‘as of right’ for several reasons. Firstly, it is submitted that any use of the application
site by students of the school would be by implied licence, that specific permission
has been granted for use of the application site for certain events and that there is
evidence to demonstrate that on occasion where dog walkers attempted to use the
application, they were asked to leave and not walk their dogs on the application
site.

21.In support of this, the school has provided statements from three members of staff.
One recalls various permissions granted for groups and organisations to use the
school fields (including the application site) during school holidays. The effect of this
would have been to interrupt any informal recreational use of the application site.
The other two members of staff refer to regular visits to the application site and
occasional challenges made to dog walkers using the application site. They also
add that, other than the occasional dog walker, they have never withessed any of
the alleged recreational activities taking place on the application site.

22.Therefore, on the issue of whether use of the application site has been ‘as of right’,
although the evidence as a whole suggests that use has taken place ‘as of right’,
further investigation of the alleged challenges is required before it is possible to
reach an informed conclusion.

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and
pastimes?

23.Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking,
children playing, picnicking and kite-flying. It is not necessary to demonstrate that
both sporting activities and pastimes have taken place since the phrase ‘lawful
sports and pastimes’ has been interpreted by the Courts as being a single
composite group rather than two separate classes of activities?.

24 Legal principle does not require that rights of this nature be limited to certain
ancient pastimes (such as maypole dancing) or for organised sports or communal
activities to have taken place. The Courts have held that ‘dog walking and playing
with children [are], in modern life, the kind of informal recreation which may be the
main function of a village green’®.

25.1In this case, the evidence suggests that the land has been used for a wide range of
recreational activities, including dog walking, bird watching picnics, playing with

2 R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385
* R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1995] 70 P&CR 487 at 508 and approved by Lord Hoffman
in R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER
385

Page 4



children and ball games. Many of the users refer to the fact that the application site
provides a safe place away from traffic to engage in recreational pursuits. The
summary of the user evidence questionnaires from local residents at Appendix C
shows the full range of activities claimed to have taken place.

26.However, the landowner challenges the nature of such use and alleges that the

recreational use of the application site by the local residents has not been of such
character, degree and frequency as to indicate an assertion of a continuous right. In
the landowner’s view, the evidence of use is skeletal and deficient, and it is not
clear whether the evidence relates specifically to the application site itself or applies
more generally to the wider area within which the application site is situated.

27.The landowner further adds that the long grass and lack of physical evidence of use

on the ground is strongly indicative that the area has not been used for lawful sports
and pastimes to any material degree. Any recreational use that has taken place has
been minimal in nature and is more consistent with the exercise of a defined route
(i.e. a public rights of way type use) rather than a general right to recreation.

28.The applicant refutes this suggestion and states that the volume of evidence

submitted in support of the application strongly suggests that the application site
has been in frequent use by the local community for recreational activities. He adds
that the overgrown nature of the application site can be explained by the fact that
last year’s unusually wet conditions did lead to an increase in vegetation which
dissuaded many of the recreational activities that would normally have taken place
on the application site and led to walkers instead using a pathway around the
perimeter of the application site. As such, the conditions experienced last year
(which is outside of the relevant period) are not to be taken as being representative
of the condition of the land during the twenty year period.

29.Therefore, whilst the applicant contends that the evidence of use submitted in

support of the application shows that the application site has been used for a range
of recreational activities, the landowner challenges the nature of the recreational
use and suggests that it has not taken place as frequently as is suggested by the
users. This is an area of clear conflict between the applicant’s evidence and the
landowner’s position which requires further investigation.

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality?

30.The right to use a Town or Village Green is restricted to the inhabitants of a locality

31.

or of a neighbourhood within a locality and it is therefore important to be able to
define this area with a degree of accuracy so that the group of people to whom the
recreational rights are attached can be identified.

The definition of locality for the purposes of a village green application has been the
subject of much debate in the courts and there is still no definite rule to be applied.
In the Cheltenham Builders* case, it was considered that ‘...at the very least,
Parliament required the users of the land to be the inhabitants of somewhere that
could sensibly be described as a locality... there has to be, in my judgement, a
sufficiently cohesive entity which is capable of definition’. The judge later went on to

‘R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at page 90

Page 5



suggest that this might mean that locality should normally constitute ‘some legally
recognised administrative division of the county’.

32.0n the subject of neighbourhood, the Courts have held that ‘it is common ground
that a neighbourhood need not be a recognised administrative unit. A housing
estate might well be described in ordinary language as a neighbourhood... The
Registration Authority has to be satisfied that the area alleged to be a
neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness; otherwise the word
‘neighbourhood” would be stripped of any real meaning’®.

33.1In this case, the applicant states, at part 6 of the application form, that he relies
upon the ‘the area of housing as ‘neighbourhood’ within the ‘locality’ of Westgate-
on-Sea ward’. The neighbourhood is defined by reference to a plan (see Appendix
D) and includes a small network of residential streets in the vicinity of Ursuline
Drive. The applicant’s case is that this area can be considered a neighbourhood by
virtue of the fact that there is only one access point to it (via Lymington Road).

34.The landowner does not dispute that the electoral ward of Westgate-on-Sea is
capable of constituting a qualifying locality; it is clearly a legally recognised
administrative unit as is required by the legislation.

35.However, the landowner does challenge the proposition that the area of housing in
the vicinity of Ursuline Drive is a qualifying neighbourhood on the basis that it does
not possess the required degree of cohesiveness and has no associated facilities,
nor any other factors that would specifically identify the area as such.

36. The applicant disputes the landowner’s position; he produces an extract from an
encyclopaedic definition of neighbourhood, which defines the concept of
‘neighbourhood’ as a geographically localised community with considerable face-to-
face interaction between members. The applicant’s position is that the residents of
the locality associate themselves with this definition and consider themselves to be
part of a neighbourhood. He adds that the neighbourhood does need to be an area
known to the law and there is no precise definition of what features it should include
within the legislation.

37.Aside from the fact that the area of housing has a common access point, the
applicant has not provided any further evidence as to why the area is a qualifying
neighbourhood. Although the concept of neighbourhood carries some fluidity and
has never been precisely defined, it is still necessary to be able to demonstrate that
the area has a number of unifying elements (e.g. communal facilities or services,
similar type and style of housing etc) so as to achieve the required element of
cohesiveness. Case law confirms that the neighbourhood must be capable of
definition (rather than merely being a line drawn on a map) and, although the
applicant refers to it as the ‘Ursuline Drive neighbourhood’ there is no evidence as
to whether it is known locally as such or whether the area is more widely
recognised as being a distinct and identifiable community within the wider locality of
Westgate-on-Sea.

°R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at page 92
Page 6



38.There is therefore insufficient evidence currently available to determine whether or
not the neighbourhood test has been met and this is an area that requires further
examination.

“a significant number”

39.The word “significant” in this context does not mean considerable or substantial: ‘a
neighbourhood may have a very limited population and a significant number of the
inhabitants of such a neighbourhood might not be so great as to properly be
described as a considerable or a substantial number... what matters is that the
number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that the
land is in general use by the community for informal recreation rather than
occasional use by individuals as trespassers’®. Thus, what is a ‘significant number’
will depend upon the local environment and will vary in each case depending upon
the location of the application site.

40.The applicant’s position is that the use of the application site by 71 local residents,
32 of whom have used it throughout the twenty year period, demonstrates that the
application site has been used by a significant number of the local residents.

41.The landowner, on the other hand, disputes that the application site has been of
sufficient quantity to signify that the land has been in general use by the local
community or to suggest that a right to recreate was being asserted by the
residents of the locality. Rather, it is suggested by the landowner that general
recreational use of the site for lawful sports and pastimes has been infrequent and
of low-level intensity.

42.As is noted above, it difficult to reconcile the differences in the landowner’s
recollections and the user evidence adduced in support of the application by the
applicant. The fact that the application is supported by 71 user evidence
questionnaires, many from people asserting use on a daily or weekly basis, means
that, on balance, it seems probable that the land has been used by a significant
number of the residents of the locality, but it is not possible to conclude definitively
on this issue on the basis of the information currently available.

(d) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of
application or within two years from when use ‘as of right’ ceased?

43.The Commons Act 2006 requires use of the land to have taken place ‘as of right’
either up until the date of application or, if such use has ceased prior to the making
of the application, that the application be made within two years of recreational use
ceasing to be ‘as of right’.

44.1n this case, there is no evidence of any challenge to the use of the application site
for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes by the local community. Therefore, it
can be concluded that the use of the application site has continued up to, and in
this case beyond, the date of the application.

°R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd.) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 at paragraph 71
Page 7



(e) Whether use has taken place over a period of twenty years or more?

45.In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has
been used for a full period of twenty years. In this case, use of the application site
‘as of right’ is continuing and, as such, the relevant twenty-year period (“the material
period”) is calculated retrospectively from the date of the application, i.e. 1990 to
2010.

46.The user evidence summarised at Appendix C suggests that there has been use of
the application site in excess of the last twenty years. However, this is to be
considered in context with the landowner's comments (above) that such use has
been limited and sporadic in nature. On balance, it appears that the application site
has been used by the local community for recreational purposes for a period of at
least twenty years, but further consideration is required regarding the nature of such
use.

Conclusion

47.Although the relevant Regulations’ provide a framework for the initial stages of
processing the application (e.g. advertising the application, dealing with objections
etc), they provide little guidance with regard to the procedure that a Commons
Registration Authority should follow in considering and determining the application.
In recent times it has become relatively commonplace, in cases which are
particularly emotive or where the application turns on disputed issues of fact, for
Registration Authorities to conduct a Public Inquiry. This involves appointing an
independent Inspector to hear the relevant evidence and report his/her findings
back to the Registration Authority.

48.Such an approach has received positive approval by the Courts, most notably in the
Whitmey® case in which Waller LJ said this: ‘the registration authority has to
consider both the interests of the landowner and the possible interest of the local
inhabitants. That means that there should not be any presumption in favour of
registration or any presumption against registration. It will mean that, in any case
where there is a serious dispute, a registration authority will almost invariably need
to appoint an independent expert to hold a public inquiry, and find the requisite
facts, in order to obtain the proper advice before registration’.

49.1t is important to remember, as was famously quoted by the Judge in another High
Court case®, that ‘it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land, whether in
public or private ownership, registered as a town green... [the relevant legal tests]
must be ‘properly and strictly proved’. This means that it is of paramount
importance for a Registration Authority to ensure that, before taking a decision, it
has all of the relevant facts available upon which to base a sound decision. It
should be recalled that the only means of appeal against the Registration
Authority’s decision is by way of a Judicial Review in the High Court.

50.1n this case, it is clear that the Village Green application is a matter of significant
local importance, as evidenced by the petition submitted in support of the

" Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008
*R (Whitmey) v Commons Commissioners [2004] EWCA Civ 951 at paragraph 66
° R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1997] 1EGLR 131 at 134

Page 8



51.

application. Equally, registration of the land as a Village Green could potentially
have serious implications on the future use of it by the school. The applicant has
put forward a good case in support of the registration of the land as a Village
Green, but the landowner has raised several issues which require further
clarification to enable the County Council to take a fully informed decision on the
application.

In particular, it is necessary to resolve the conflict regarding the alleged challenges
to recreational use, to confirm the nature and extent of recreational use by the local
residents, and to consider further evidence as to whether the neighbourhood relied
upon by the application is acceptable for this purpose. As such, on the basis of the
evidence currently available, it would appear that it is not possible to determine this
matter on paper and the most appropriate course of action would be for the matter
to be referred to a Public Inquiry.

Recommendations

52.1 recommend that a non-statutory Public Inquiry be held into the case to clarify the

issues.

Accountable Officer:

Mr. Mike Overbeke — Tel: 01622 221513 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk
Case Officer:

Miss. Melanie McNeir — Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk

The main file is available for viewing on request at the PROW and Access Service,
Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further
details.

Background documents

APPENDIX A — Plan showing application site
APPENDIX B — Copy of application form
APPENDIX C — Summary of user evidence
APPENDIX D — Plan showing neighbourhood

Page 9




Scale 1:2500

631500
= APPENDIX A:
Plan showing the application site
= CANTERBURY ROAD WEST!
!
i
I -
1 N
1 4
Py ms—— (I =— BER ; (=
2 b "% 2
2 a3 “] @
- =] -
L)
° cccccc
t \J— Playing Field
‘ o Playing Field
Nl = =
1S
10
1
\
\
1
1

w

\ =
\
LI
‘ <c®
\ g &
2 e WARREN DRVE é
B %
This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permisgion of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the 1 9
Controller of Her Majesty's Office (c) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to w“z
prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence number 100019238 [2012F 3 %
631500
N
Land subject to Village Green application
. at Ursuline Drive, Westgate-on-Sea
S

Ken
County
Council




APPENDIX B:

' c f th icati
FORM CA9 opy of the application form

Commons Act 2006: section 15

Application for the registration of land
as a new Town or Village Green

This section is for office use only

Officiai stamp of the Registration Authority
indicating date of receipt: Application number:

NOAE

COMMONS ACT 2008
KENT COLRTY COUNGIL
REGISTRATION AN HOFITY

25 NOV 2011 VG number allocated at registration
(if application is successful):

Note to applicants

Applicants are advised to read the ‘Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 (changes to the commons registers):
Guidance to applicants in the pilot implementation areas’ and to note the following:

s Al applicants should complete parts 1-6 and 10-12.

+ Applicants applying for registration under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act should, in addition, complete
parts 7 and 8. Any person can apply to register land as a green where the criteria for registration in
section 15(2), (3) or (4) apply.

« Applicants applying for voluntary registration under section 15(8) should, in addition, complete part
9. Only the owner of the land can apply under section 15(8).

e There is no fee for applications under section 15.

Note 1 . 1. Commons Registration Authorify
insert name of Commons
Registration Authority To the —

CoMMoNS l—as_@.lsmﬁ'ﬂcﬂ W

K‘S.N“T” Cou:d"r“'! Comxlc,u_..
C oo TRY Sibe A-c:.c_iss Si‘,.av Y3

fa v T Heoose
Coortv Hhae
Mo b oo n g KsmsT PEIF XX

Page 11




Nofe 2

if there is more than one
applicant, list ali names. Use a
separate sheet if necessary.
State the fulf title of the
organisation if the applicant is a
body corporale or
unincorporate. If you supply an
email address in the box
provided, you may receive
communications from the
Registration Authority or other
persons (e.g. objectors) via
email. If part 3 is not completed
all correspondence and nofices
will be sent to the first named
applicant.

2. Name and address of the applicant
G RAHAT

Full postal address:
(incl. Postcode)

RACKETT

Name:

Teiephone nu
(inck. national dial

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

Note 2

This part should be completed if
a representative, e.g. a solicitor,
is instructed for the purposes of
the application. If so all
correspondence and notices will
be sent to the person or firm
named here. If you supply an
email address in the box
provided, you may receive
communications from the
Registration Authority or other
persons {e.g. objectors} via
email.

3. Name and address of representative, if any
Name:
Firm:

Full postal address:
(incl, Postcode)

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialling code)

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address:

Note 4

For further details of the
requirements of an application
refer to Schedule 4, paragraph
9 to the Commons Registration
(England) Regufations 2008.

4. Basis of application for registration and qualifying criteria

If you are the landowner and are seeking voluntarily to register your
land please tick this box and move to question 5. Application made
under section 15(8): ' O

If the application is made under séction 15(1) of the Act, please tick
one of the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and
qualifying criterion applies to the case.

.4

Section 15(3) applies: =l

Section 15(2) applies:

Section 15(4) applies: 0O

Page 12




*Section 15(8} enables any
period of statufory closure
where access fo the fand is
denied to be disregarded in
determining the 20 year period.

If section 15(3) or (4) applies, please indicate the date on which you
consider that use ‘as of right’ ended and why:

If section 15(6)* is being relied upon in determining the period of 20
years, indicate the period of statutory closure (if any) which needs to
be disregarded:

Note 5

This part is to identify the new
green. The accompanying map
must be at a scale of af least
1:2,500 and shows the fand by
means of distinctive colouring
within an accurately identified
boundary. State the Land
Registry title number where
known.

5. Description and particulars of the area of land in respect of
which application for registration is made

Name by which usually known: R €<Q5Am0d GRovNd (M BT ?)

ABTACENT Aud 0 “THE NeaTH oF VRSULINE pRIvE

Location: L&aT sI1.37F6Goio o

odd, 1. 3ILS WL E
TR BS53o0 693¢Y
Common Land register unit number (only if the land is already
registered Common Land):

696 ILRLTY

~ A

Please tick the box to confirm that you have attached a map of the
land (at a scale of at least 1:2,500): =

exth@rrs Lo 2 (o)

Note 6

it may be possible to indicate
the focality of the green by
reference to an administrative
area, such as a parish or
electoral ward, or other area
sufficiently defined by name™
{such as a village). If this is not
possible a map should be
provided on which a locality or
neighbourhood is marked
clearly at a scale of 1:10,000.

6. Locality or neighboufhood within a locality in respect of
which the application is made

Indicate the locality (or neighbourhood within the locality} to which the
claimed green relates by writing the administrative area or
geographical area by name below and/or by attaching a map on

which the area is clearly marked: S

. : t
THE ARsA of HoustG 48 NEIGHRorRHeoh

3 .t C v \
VTt THE. bocanT Wistmags- 0n-Ssa  Whes

[weuub LWy To e Crrb g Ham—i WJ—GW‘S BorThe P
BoTiibhg THEL Locaty 7 _r_\s ird &1@&-&:1-46{'7’0&3 -
Please tick here if a map is attached (at a scale of 1:10,000): JZ'

iﬁl—h@rrs 2 o+ W

Page 13




Note 7

Applicants should provide a
summary of the case for
registration here and enclose a
separate full statement and alf
other evidence including any
witness slatements in support of
the application.

This information is not needed if
a landowner is applying to
register the land as a green
under section 15(8).

7. Justification for application to register the land as a Town or
Village Green

PisAs s s55.  ATTTRACHSD

svibEncE  SHEST

Note 8

Use a separate sheet if
necessary. This information is
not needed if a landowner is
applying to register the land as
a green under section 15(8).

8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant
believes to be an owner, lessee, proprietor of any “relevant
charge”, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to be
a town or village green

Since Foevaer 20\O
Tas Covcamima  Bova,

Kids  Evnsc@ser S‘?-*““"“-,

: Cﬁwxfmau?-% %ﬁb,
B im oo |
WLemr— T QR

(,3@.& e_wL\';k-u*\‘ S - Q.MC;\\ KCC Tarewo.s “_r:e.&m>

Page 14




Application for Village/Town Green Registration
Commons Act 2006 Section 15

Evidence

L.ocation

The land which it is hoped to be registered is a plot of recreation ground and surrounding
trees adjacent to the north (rear) of Ursuline Drive. Please see exhibits 1(a/b), 2, 3 and 4 for
exact location.

Reason for Application

The area of land has been in existence as an open area stretching back to the Second World
War and has been a popular venue for the local Westgate-On-Sea residents where they would
play as children. The field has been used in the past by King Ethelbert School for sport
recreation but this area throughout the year is mostly used by the local residents and has been
for well over 20 years for a variety of recreational uses. Exhibit 3 is a recent ordnance survey
of the area indicating this area of land as recreation ground and also shows the extent of use
by the “Ursuline Drive neighbourhood’ and beyond. This is a small area (the field including
the surrounding trees) that the residents cherish and this application is based on trying to
preserve a wildlife area and recreational area for all our future generations.

Evidence

Kent County Council owned the land and disposed of this land in February 2010 to the
Governing Body of King Ethelbert School and therefore the school has only recently owned
the land and the land is still recorded by the ordnance survey maps (2011) as recreational
ground (exhibit 5 —land ownership). The green wedge area and its surrounding trees has
access through a gated (no gate) arca between walls and between trees where the wall no
longer exists with residents gaining access this way for over 20 years (exhibit 6). No part of
this green site has ever had site notices or signs during this long period to indicate that the
public was in any way restricted. No part of this site has been restricted to the public and has
been used for lawful recreational pursuits as of right for as long back as the Second World
War. All of the residents within Ursuline Drive and a substantial number of the local
residents regard this green wedge area as a recreational asset that has been used for
recreational use by successive generations and should not be lost (see summary of user
evidence — exhibit 7).

I have lived in this area for 23 years and have seen daily visits to this arca of land. The land
has been used regularly for watking, dog walking, children and parents playing football,
cricket and golf practise just a few. The older generation have used this just to sit and relax in
the sun whilst families have picnicked and even camped here. This has been described by our

Page 15




residents as a safe area as it is enclosed and away from traffic and therefore people have been
taking their children/grandchildren and dogs (to train) to this area for this reason. It provides
a safe environment for the slightly older local children to organise their own sports activities
and put parents’ minds at easc that they are in a safe environment. This arca is used every day
up to the time of this evidence submission.

This area also has a wealth of wildlife due to being an enclosed space. The area is totally
enclosed by an area of woodland containing substantial mature sycamore trees which have
tree preservation orders on themn. This area also houses a plethora of bird life — I have,
myself, recorded over 28 species of bird either as indigenous or visitors to this area. Some of
these include green and greater spotted woodpecker (some residents say they may have seen
lesser spotted woodpecker), a large population of Jay, 4 or 5 different types of tit and
blackcap, fieldfare, mistle thrush as visitors. This area has a diverse wildlife from urban
mammals and rodents such as foxes and squirrels and extensive insect life which the birds
rely on. The butterfly population is also high in particular this year large numbers of red
admiral, comma and gatekeeper but I guess more importantly the summer visits of large
numbers of painted ladies and the humming bird moth has also been seen in this area. The
butterfly conservation group are closely monitoring these 2 species due to loss of habitat and
decrease in numbers. A letter of support is included from Kent Wildlife (exhibit 8).

This area was in July 2005 threatened with urban development (Applicant: The Governors,
King Ethelbert School) and the application withdrawn (exhibit 9a) on the advice of the
council due to the determination of this area as green wedge area and should not be used for
development (exhibit 9b). At this time the green wedge area was not owned by the school
(letter from KCC see exhibit 5). A second development of this area was again sought in May
2010 (withdrawn May 22 2011) and a new planning application for development resubmitted
July 2011. This recreational area is under the threat of development once again by the
purchase of the land and the neighbourhood is looking to ensure that contravention of policy
CL6 of the Isle of Thanet Local Plan (green wedge) is not possible by village green status. It
would be good to safeguard this very small area for the local residents of the neighbourhood
within Westgate-On-Sea as well as for the benefit of the locality for all residents of Westgate-
On-Sca as a safe environment for their leisure pursuits and to safeguard the wealth of wildlife
that this area supports — as a village/town green.

Plcase also find included:

Exhibit 10 — petition support from local Westgate-On-Sea residents (177)
Exhibit 11 — email user evidence
Exhibit 12 - letter of support from Westgate and Westbrook Residents Association

71 evidence questionnaires

Page 16




Note 9

List or enter in the form ail'such-.
declarations that accompany
the application. This can include
any written declarafions sent to
the applicant (i.e. a letfer), and
also any such declarations
made on the form itself.

9. Voluntary registration — declarations of conéent from any
relevant leaseholder of, and of the proprietor of any relevant
charge over, the land

Note 10

List all supporting consents,
documents and maps
accompanying the appiication.
Evidence of ownership of the
fand must be included for
voluntarily registration
applications. There is no need
to submit copies of documents
issued by the Registration
Authority or fo which it was a
party but they should still be
fisfed. Use a separate sheet if
necessary.

10. Supporting documentation

EXHIRITS 1-t MAPS oF ARIA

gwittidy T 5
Poond ARRLS
Wit WISTHATS - ové —~ 58

HARITOA L S5ZS Anib

NEG oo tiood

OB S \

¢ .
e@f  DRSIwesh DV
A AR (s-oc_r*\m*-rw') .

sxhiiBTS 5 -6

o ells oy dnd £8P

TRy P TS T AffLlicAaTIoN ST
RGBT F 7 DuMmA’Y  of wss e suibs oy
c"nmhm-r § - WENT WikbhefFE LETTER
& &

SKHIGIT “ ‘“!h AN NG DecumsN TG 2Zo0sT

AIDE NG THANET
Ps Ty TlonN SuPpoey

CoUNCAdl. OUTTCDME
Fol “waa\l\\l\\-\—‘ﬁcts_

S G N CUNE R+ B ‘ _ -
é)(c‘ﬂ,:‘z_iﬂ oTEIS -~  WITTMAE e -SS A LOCALS Cl?’-f”,f:és“)
gxth e - S LSER SN

3P TV SrCEi. VESTIONNAIRES
S K HIZ T 12 ~ SuPPORST JETTER  WESEATL ¢lWismmuc &ﬁgﬁ?clbgmd

Note 11

List any other matters which
should be brought fo the
atfention of the Registration
Authonity (in particular if a
person interested in the land is
expecled to challenge the
application for registration). Full
details should be given here or
on a separate sheet if
necessary.

11. Any other information relating to the application

KNG 2THe L @sa T SCHewL HAave
QOF 15D Fog PLAN NG PL i SSio N TTHWS
_. ' 1 o LSOR T TTE R
A\Qg,q (V\nﬁ}bg.qu! ] o g A u) R Essoimh

“ a3\ \cca'-TH‘o‘z.S"?-iz,uﬁ

TuowM

N rs)

Page 17




Note 12 12. Signature
The application must be signed

by each individual applicant, or
by the authorised officer of an
applicant which is a body
corporate or unincorporafte.

Signature(s) of applicant(s):

Date: “2:-1-’\\\\\

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

You are responsible for telling the truth in presenting the application and accompanying evidence.
You may commit a criminai offence if you deliberately provide misleading or untrue evidence and if
you do so you may be prosecuted. You are advised to keep a copy of the application and ail
associated documentation.

Please send your completed application form to:

The Commons Registration Team
Kent County Council
Countryside Access Service
Invicta House

County Hall

Maidstone

Kent ME14 1XX

Data Protection Act 1998

The application and any representations made cannot be treated as confidential. To determine the
application it will be necessary for the Commons Registration Authority to disclose information
received from you to others, which may include other local authorities, Government Departments,
public bodies, other organisations and members of the public,

A copy of this form and any accompanying documents may be disclosed upon receipt of a request
for information under the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and the Freedom of
Information Act 2000.

Page 18




+ sxthieyr Ak

Land RegiStI'l__] ' Ordnanbe Survey map reference TR3169SE

Scale 1:1250 enlarged from 1:2500
Eﬁdex map Dﬁan Plan prepared on 21/10/2011 at 00:00:01

@ Crown Copynight. Produced by Land Hegistry, Reproduciion in whole or in part is prohibited without the prior wiilten permission of Ordnance Survey. Licence Number 1000263186,
[ \ . \ !

This plan shows the general position, not the exact line, of the boundaries. |t may be subject to distortions in scale.
Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements between the same points on the ground. See Land
Registry Public Guide 19 - Title Plans and Boundaries. :

RS0 AR A

Page 19



APPENDIX C: Summary of user
evidence (prepared by the applicant)

Exhibit 7 - SUMMARY OF USER EVIDENCE IN o e.x wxva ws 3 2 saves 2aoiv

Name Period of Use Frequency Activities Other Comments

"Will use again if back
treatment successful"
Dog walking, walking Observed walking, nature
watching, dog walking,
children playing with parents

1999 - recently Daily when

Mrs. J. Barrett (mobility) mobile

Photography,
1999 - present Varied blackberrying, children's
games, hide & seek

Mr. & Mrs. L.
and D. Burlace

Observed dog walking,
children playing

Walking, sunbathing, Observed dog walking,

M.r' R. 2009 - present Daily relaxing, nature footballers, sunbathers, nature
Christman X
observing observers
Dog walking, playing .
Mr. & Mrs. T. ) . Observed dog walking,
Caldwell 2006 - present Daily/weekly foothall, walking, walking

picnics

Page 20




Name Period of Use  Frequency Activities Other Comments

days; childrens pla

| Observed dog
Mr. & M.rs' D. 2003 - present Daily Dog walking, running walking,children playing,
Davis ;
people walking

: Terry has Parkinson's and
Mr.T.Denham 1994 - present Daily Walking, dog walking as such this area is close

enough for him to walk

"this piece of land is valued
strongly by the community as

. Games with children, well as wildlife"  Observed
Ms. T. Edwards 2003 - present Daily dog walking dog walkers, children playing,
family picnics, bird watching,
campers
Games with
. AL . . .
Mr &.Mrs 1994 - present Daily/weckly grandchildren, walking Opserved dofg walkers and
Field . . children playing ball games
and training dog
Mr. & Mrs. D.

Figgess

2000 - present Weekly Dog Walking, relaxing Observed dog walking

"If this application is
successful, it (green) can be
used to celebrate queen's 60th

Mrs. G. Gooding 1996 - present Weekly/ Dog walking, childrens

monthly prenic anniversary". Observed dog
walking, children playing
) . Games with Observed dog walking, young
. 2005 - 0 : i
Mr. J. Goodwin 005 -2010 ccasionally grandchildren, walking lovers

Page 21




Name Period of Use  Frequency Activities Other Comments

Games with
Mr. & Mrs. N. 2007 - present  Daily/weekly  grandchildren, dog
Hall .
walking

Walking dog and  Observed dog walkers an.d".
walking with children children playing games

Ms. E. James 2003 - present Weekly

Walking, dog walking,

Mr. & Mrs. R. 1999 - present Daily/weekly bird watching, nature in Observed dog walking, nature
and S. Jezard general, playing with  watching and playing games
grandchildren
Daily (twicea  Dog walking, bird Observed dog walking,

Mrs. C. Johnson 2006 - present

children playing, campers

day) watching

‘meetings, children pla
Observed dog walking,

Mr. & Mrs. 8. 2009 - present Monthly .Wa]kmg,‘ meeting walking, picnics and
Law friends to sit and relax . .y
: children's' games
Dog walking, playing .
Molee 200t Wedy g gl Omened dog walking

Dog walking, meeting ‘Observed dog walking, bird
friends watching

Mrs. B. Ludlow 2001 - present Daily

Page 22




Name Period of Use  Frequency Activities Other Comments

Mrs. M o Observed dog walking,
- M. 2004 - present Occasionally Dog walking walkers, children playing,

Manni
anning people with tents

"the previous owner used this
2011 - present area daily for walking their
dogs" Observed
dog walkers, children playing,
bird watching

Dog walking, games

Ms. A. Marshall (3 months - just Daily with grandchildren

moved here)

0

- . football, camping
Walking, grandchildren  Observed children playing,

activities dog walking

Mrs. M. Newing 2001 - present Occasionally

Mr. M. Quintal 2000 - present Weekl ]1)(3(2; walkmi, frultth Observed dog walking, ball
& Ms. V. Pullen - presen ey pICKInE, _garn s Wi games, nature watching
children
Walking dog with .
. . . Observed dog walking,
. G, Rat - . .
Mrs. G. Rateliff 2009 present Monthly grandchildren, playing children playing

football

Observed dog walking with
children

Mr. D. Riley 2005 - present Occasionally Walking, watching birds

"Don't close the pavilion it's
the only land we have to
Walking dogs, camping, walk our dogs safely"
kids to play man hunt Observed dog walking,
playing football, children
playin

Ms. I. Roberts 2001 - present Daily

Page 23




Name Period of Use Frequency Activities Other Comments

. Walking dog and Observed dog walkers and
Mr. 1. 8 1995 - t Dail . : . . .
f camp presen aty playing with children children playing
.W 11d]1fe. watching Observed dog walking,
(birds/squirrels/tfoxes), . N
dog walking camping, picnicking
Mr. I, Sheldon 1997 - present Daily . pupil at school from 1954-58
blackberrying and . e
. - and used tennis courts in this
playing with ared
grandchildren
Mr. A. Siddle 2003 - present Weekly Walking dog Observed dog walking
Mr. & Mrs. R. 2000 - piesent Dail Dog Walking, grand ?bs;alfveda(::gi:allgmf,
And V. Silver present ay children playing playing, CAMpINg, berry
picking
. & Mrs, I, . Ob dd Iki
Mr & s 2006 - present Daily Dog Walking S erv? 8 wa. g,
Skinner jogging, camping
Mr. M. Slack 2006 - present Occasionally Walking Observe-d dog'w;%lklng,
walking, picnics
Mr. (;5011\;1;& S. 1997 - present Daily Dog walking Observed dog walking
Mr. & Mrs. J. . . Observed dog walking,
and P, Taylor 2009 - present Daily Dog walking oycling
. Daj k . .
Miss. D. Thomas 2011 - present aily/weekly/ Dog walking Observed dog walking

monthly

Mr. L Usmar 2010 - present weekly Walking , football with  Observed dog walking, ball

son, nature watching games, picnics
Ms. G. Daily (three . Observed dog walking,
Verstraete 2010 - present times a day) Dog walking walking
Ob dd 1ki t
Ms. L. Wager 2009 - present Weekly Dog walking served fog walking, Sports

activities, shortcuts

"Safe area for children to

. ird
Daily (twice a Dog walking, bird enjoy the nature, bir

Ms. J. Wales 2009 - present da tchi watching, etc"” Observed
y) : watcimg dog walking, children playing,
camping
. .D. . Ob dd lking,
Mr & MTS D 2006 - present Monthly Walking served dog wa'king
~ Williams

children playing

.. 20+ years users (32 households)
total user questionnaires received {71 households)
user questionnaires awaited {4 households)

1 user evidence from email

Page 24




APPENDIX D:

Golf Course

ol Courae

ol Dhuls .

Plan showing the neighbourhood

& . s _..,.

NiiaHZ our,

rirs

U@ emmER o
) Sy .n,r@mm&% Lo PENELE

'Ursuline Drive

W:.n—._m:m.nOS Neighbourhood'

neighbourhood defined
by only exit road on west

Fowerad by

8 Crrinance @ recreational users - evidence questionnaire
L Survey @ awaited

O% CoenSnene 8§ Crown canvriehe sand dstahase riek

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Agenda ltem 4

Application to register land known as Grasmere Pastures
at Whitstable as a new Town Green

A report by the Head of Regulatory Services to Kent County Council’s Regulation
Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 26" February 2013.

Recommendation: | recommend, for the reasons set out in the Inspector’s report
dated 11" November 2012 and the further advice dated 31%' January 2013, that
the applicant be informed that the application to register land known as
Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable has not been accepted.

Local Members: Mr. M. Harrison and Mr. M. Dance Unrestricted item

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land known as
Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable as a new Town or Village Green from Mrs. E.
Watkins on behalf of the Grasmere Pastures Residents Action Group (‘the
applicant”). The application, made on 14" September 2009, was allocated
reference number VGA617. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this
report.

Procedure

2. The application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and the
Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008.

3. Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a
Commons Registration Authority to register land as a Town or Village Green where
it can be shown that:

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests:
* Use of the land has continued ‘as of right' until at least the date of
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or
* Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than two years prior to the
date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section
15(3) of the Act); or
« Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended before 6" April 2007 and the application
has been made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’ ended (section
15(4) of the Act).

5. As a standard procedure set out in the Regulations, the Applicant must notify the
landowner of the application and the County Council must notify every local
authority. The County Council must also publicise the application in a newspaper
circulating in the local area and place a copy of the notice on the County Council’s
website. In addition, as a matter of best practice rather than legal requirement, the

Page 27



County Council also places copies of the notice on site to provide local people with
the opportunity to comment on the application. The publicity must state a period of
at least six weeks during which objections and representations can be made.

The application site

6.

The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) is known locally
as Grasmere Pastures and is situated between the residential areas of South
Tankerton and Chestfield on the northern outskirts of the town of Whitstable. The
application site consists of approximately 16.3 hectares (40.3 acres) of rough
grassland which is bounded to the north by the Ridgeway (also known as Bridleway
CW40), to the south and west by the rear of residential properties in Grasmere
Road and Richmond Road, and to the east (roughly) by Swalecliffe Brook. The
application site is shown in more detail on the plan at Appendix A.

Access to the application site is via Public Footpath CW88 (which runs across the
application site between Grasmere Road and Ridgeway) and Public Footpath
CW89 (which runs between Richmond Road and Public Footpath CW88). Both
paths were formally recorded on the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way in 2009
following a successful application by the applicant under section 53 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981.

The application site is owned by OW Prestland Ltd and registered with the HM Land
Registry under title number K503254. Kitewood Estates Ltd. is the sole shareholder
in OW Prestland Ltd. and the holder of an option to purchase the application site.
During the consultation process, an objection to the application was received from
solicitors acting on behalf of OW Prestland Ltd. and Kitewood Estates Ltd. (“the first
objector”). A further objection was also received from Mr. M. Lewer CBE QC, former
director of OW Prestland Ltd (“the second objector”).

Previous resolution of the Regulation Committee Member Panel

9.

The matter was considered at a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member
Panel on Tuesday 22" February 2011, where Members accepted the
recommendation that the matter be referred to a Public Inquiry for further
consideration.

10.As a result of this decision, Officers instructed Miss Lana Wood (“the Inspector”),

Counsel experienced in this area of law, to hold a Public Inquiry, acting as an
independent Inspector, and to report her findings back to the County Council.

The Public Inquiry

11.A pre-Inquiry meeting, for the purpose of determining the matters to be addressed

and the procedure to be followed at the Inquiry, was held in Whitstable on Monday
23 May 2011. Written directions to all parties confirming the format of the Inquiry
and procedure for the submission of evidence were circulated shortly thereafter.

12.The Public Inquiry was opened on Monday 5" September 2011, but was promptly

adjourned due to the submission of a significant volume of new evidence by the
applicant. Due to various further unforeseen circumstances, the Inquiry did not

Page 28



resume until Tuesday 17" April 2012. The Inspector sat for a total of 12 days,
hearing evidence both in support of and in opposition to the application.

13. At the Public Inquiry, the applicant was represented by Ms. Isabella Tafur and Mr.
David Graham of Counsel (instructed by the Kent Law Clinic on behalf of the
applicant). The first objector was represented by Miss. Ross Crail of Counsel, and
Mr. M. Lewer CBE QC represented himself.

14.The Inspector subsequently produced a detailed written report of her findings dated
11" November 2012. The report itself (including appendices) runs to approximately
350 pages and a full copy is available from the Case Officer on request. The
Inspector’s findings are summarised below.

Legal tests and Inspector’s findings

15.In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County

Council must consider the following criteria:

(a) Whether use of the land has been ‘as of right'?

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and
pastimes?

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of the inhabitants of a particular
locality, or of a neighbourhood within a locality?

(d) Whether use of the land ‘as of right’ by the inhabitants has continued up until the
date of application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections 15(3) or (4)?

(e) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more?

| shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually in accordance
with the Inspector’s findings.

(a) Whether use of the land has been ‘as of right'?

16.The statutory scheme in relation to Village Green applications is based upon the
English law of prescription, whereby certain rights can be acquired on the basis of a
presumed dedication by the landowner. This presumption of dedication arises
primarily as a result of acquiescence (i.e. inaction by the landowner) and, as such,
long use by the public is merely evidence from which a dedication can be inferred.

17.1n order to infer a dedication, use must have been ‘as of right’. This means that use
must have taken place without force, without secrecy and without permission (‘nec
vi, nec clam, nec precario’). In this context, force refers not only to physical force,
but to any use which is contentious or exercised under protest': “if, then, the
inhabitants’ use of the land is to give rise to the possibility of an application being
made for registration of a village green, it must have been peaceable and non-
contentious™.

18.In this case, there was no suggestion that any recreational use of the application
site had been secretive in nature or had taken place with any express or implied
permission from the landowner. The Inspector was also satisfied that there had not
been any verbal challenges to use during the relevant period.

' Dalton v Angus (1881) 6 App Cas 740 (HL)
’R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] UKSC 11 at paragraph 92 per Lord Rodger

Page 29



19.However, the Inspector was required to consider whether recreational use had at
any point been contentious and whether the recreational use would have had the
outward appearance of the assertion of a public right.

The hay crop

20.At the Public Inquiry, the Inspector heard a considerable amount of evidence
relating to the condition and recreational use of the application site during the
relevant period. In particular, there was much debate as to the taking of an annual
hay crop from the land. On this issue, the Inspector rejected the applicant’s
assertion that the application site had been uncultivated grassland and, instead,
preferred the objectors’ evidence that the application site had been used to grow
and harvest a hay crop on a commercial basis. The growing period was, roughly,
between May and September each year and the harvest operations took between
eight days and two weeks to complete, depending on the weather and the farmer’s
other commitments.

21.The Inspector found that recreational use of the application site had been tolerated

by the landowner for the months of the year outside of the growing season and that
responsible use during the growing season had also been tolerated. However, the
attitude of the users, based on the evidence given at the Inquiry, was that the
application site was not, as a whole, used during the growing season and that any
use had been restricted to paths around the perimeter of or across the application
site. In this respect, she considered that®;

“it is clear in my judgement that this use would not have been such in all

the circumstances as to suggest to a reasonable landowner the exercise

of a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes across the whole of his

land: although the motivation [of the users] might have been to avoid

damaging the growing crop, the outward appearance would have been of

a footpath type use”.

22.This will be relevant because recreational use that has the outward appearance of
being akin to the use of a public right of way is generally not qualifying use for the
purposes of Village Green registration. The issue was considered by the Courts in
Laing Homes®, in which the judge said that: ‘it is important to distinguish between
use that would suggest to a reasonable landowner that the users believed they
were exercising a public right of way to walk, with or without dogs... and use that
would suggest to such a landowner that the users believed that they were
exercising a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes across the whole of the
fields’.

23.Accordingly, the Inspector considered that such use should be discounted when
determining whether the application site had been used in the requisite manner.
She said®:
‘in my judgement a reasonable landowner would have regarded people
walking, cycling or dog walking on the tracks as exercising a right which
potentially might give rise to a public footpath claim, rather than to a village

% see paragraph 17.9 of the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012
‘R (Laing Homes) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] 3 EGLR 70
® see paragraph 17.25 of the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012

Page 30



green claim, and | therefore consider that such use ought to be discounted
when considering whether the applicant has shown sufficient qualifying
use of the application land for village green purposes”.

Notices and fencing

24.The Inspector heard much evidence regarding the issue of fencing, notices and

mounds dug around the perimeter to impede access to the application site. There
was much dispute and considerable debate at the Inquiry, particularly in relation to
the date that the notices were erected and the mounds dug.

25.Having considered all of the evidence, the Inspector was able to conclude that a

26.

27.

28.

locked gate was erected on the north-western corner of the field (on the boundary
of a small area excluded from the application site) by 14™ September 2004.

She also found that two notices stating ‘private property no trespassing’ were
erected on 7" September 2004 at the eastern and western end of the Ridgeway
(Bridleway CW40). This was confirmed by the minutes of a meeting of the
Chestfield Parish Council (held on 13" September 2004) which record that ‘the
Clerk referred to the problems currently being experienced at Grasmere Pasture...
there was concern about the installation of “Private Property” notices on 8
September 2004, and news that the Grasmere Pasture area is to be fenced’. The
Inspector concluded that effect of this minute was to demonstrate that®:

“in fact the effect of the actions completed by the landowner by 13"

September 2004 was to bring home to a substantial number of local

residents the fact that the access to the application land was henceforth to

be resisted by the landowner, despite the fact that other entrances were

not signed”

In relation to the mounds, the Inspector was not able to identify the date upon which
these were dug. She considered that it was likely that they were constructed when
the fencing contractor was on site, and probably as early as (but not before) 16™
September 2004. In addition to the mounds fencing was also erected on the
boundaries of the application site. It was common ground at the Inquiry that the
fencing along the Ridgeway was not completed before 15" September 2004. The
Inspector considered on the basis of the evidence before her that it was likely that a
run of fencing had been erected (including across the Grasmere Road and
Richmond Road entrances to the application site) by 20" September 2004 but that
the run of fencing along the Ridgeway was not completed until early October.
However, both the mounds and the fencing had been erected outside of the
relevant period (which ended on 14" September 2004).

Overall, the Inspector concluded that the actions taken by the landowner had been
sufficient to convey to a reasonable user that his use had become contentious’:
“the combination of the two signs together with the new locked gate were
in my judgement sufficient to convey to any reasonable member of the
public using those entrances to the field the fact that his access to and use
of the land was no longer being tolerated.

® see paragraph 18.48 of the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012
" see paragraphs 18.55 and 18.57 of the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012

Page 31



| am satisfied that by erecting notices reading “Private Land No
Trespassing” at either end of the Ridgeway boundary of the field, the
landowner took reasonable steps, proportionate to the user which he
wishes to prevent, to bring his opposition to the use of his land by local
people for recreation to the actual notice of those using his land.”

Conclusion on ‘as of right’

29.As a result, the Inspector found that use of the application site would not have been
‘as of right’, either during the growing period within the first half of the twenty year
period (use instead being a rights of way type use) or during the very latter part of
the twenty year period (due to use becoming contentious as a result of the notices
and locked gate).

(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and
pastimes?

30.Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking,
children playing, picnicking and kite flying. It is not necessary to demonstrate that
both sporting activities and pastimes have taken place since the phrase ‘lawful
sports and pastimes’ has been interpreted by the Courts as being a single
composite group rather than two separate classes of activities®.

31.Legal principle does not require that rights of this nature be limited to certain
ancient pastimes (such as maypole dancing) or for organised sports or communal
activities to have taken place. The Courts have held that ‘dog walking and playing
with children [are], in modern life, the kind of informal recreation which may be the
main function of a village green”.

32.In this case, the Inspector heard evidence that the application site had been used
for a range of recreational activities during the relevant period. Such activities
included walking and dog walking, children’s play (including ball games), kite flying,
model aeroplane flying and snow play.

33.However, as noted in the preceding section, there was an issue regarding the use
of the application site during the growing season for the hay crop. The Inspector
found that during the growing season, most residents did not use the whole of the
application site but, rather, stuck to the paths through the hay and the perimeter of
the field, and she was not persuaded that people had played ball games on the hay
when it was growing or that bicycles had been ridden through the growing hay. She
found that some residents (mostly dog walkers but also kite and model airplane
flyers) had used the whole of the application site during the growing season, and
that the number of residents making such use of the application site during the
growing season increased over the years, so that in the early years it did not cause
any significant loss of the crop, but by 1994 it was causing significant damage to
the growing crop.

® R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385
° R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1995] 70 P&CR 487 at 508 and approved by Lord Hoffman
in R v. Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER
385 at 397

Page 32



34.Her conclusion on the recreational use of the application site was'®:

“Having regard to all of the evidence, | am not satisfied that the level of
use of the land at the beginning of the relevant period during the growing
season was such that it would have appeared to a reasonable landowner
to have the character of the assertion of a public right to use the whole of
the application land for recreation rather than the assertion of a public right
of way across the tracks. The level of use increased over the period and
by 1994 it probably was sufficient to have appeared to be the assertion of
a public right.

| am satisfied, having regard to all the evidence, that the application land
was used throughout the relevant period by a significant number of local
residents outside the growing season for lawful sports and pastimes, and
particularly immediately after the hay was cut. Once the hay was cut
people did not need to keep to the paths and could walk wherever they
pleased on the field...

In my judgement, a reasonable landowner, having regard to the extent of
use of the application land both outside and during the growing season for
the latter half of the application period, could not have failed to appreciate
that the local inhabitants were asserting a right which he needed to resist if
he wished to prevent in maturing into a prescriptive right, despite the fact
that the land was being farmed for hay. However, | am not satisfied that
the level of use by the local people during the early years of the relevant
period, being largely confined, as | find, to the paths across and around
the application land during the growing period, and only extending across
the whole of the application land during the fallow period, was such that a
reasonable landowner would have regarded it as having the character of
the assertion of a public right to use the application land for recreation.”

35. At the Inquiry, the objectors also argued that when recreational activities resulted in
damage to the growing crop, those activities could not be considered lawful sports
and pastimes. The Inspector considered this issue in her report’’ and was satisfied
that in order for activities enjoyed on the field to be lawful sports and pastimes,
those activities must not be activities that involved the commission of a criminal
offence. She was further satisfied that it would have been obvious that walking or
cycling through the growing hay, or enjoying other activities, would cause damage
to the crop so that an offence under section 1 of the Criminal Damage Act 1971
might be committed.

36.In this case, the Inspector found that use of the application site during the growing
season in the latter part of the relevant period did, as a matter of fact, cause
damage and resulted in significant loss of the hay crop. The damage was such that
it prompted the tenant farmer to complain complaint to the landowner about it. The
Inspector considered it arguable, therefore, that such use as there was of the
application site, other than the footpaths, during the growing season would not have
been qualifying use because it would not have been a lawful sport or pastime.

% see paragraphs 17.44, 17.45 and 17.46 of the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012
see paragraphs 17.47 onwards in the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012

Page 33



37.The Inspector’s overall conclusion regarding this issue was therefore that although

there was evidence to suggest that the application site had been used for a range
of recreational activities during the relevant period, the evidence was that such use
during the growing season (particularly during the early part of the relevant period
prior to 1994) was restricted to paths through the growing crop which would have
consisted of a rights of way type use rather than the assertion of a right to recreate
over the whole of the land.

(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality?

38.The right to use a Town or Village Green is restricted to the inhabitants of a locality,

or of a neighbourhood within a locality, and it is therefore important to be able to
define this area with a degree of accuracy so that the group of people to whom the
recreational rights are attached can be identified.

39. The definition of locality for the purposes of a Town or Village Green application has

been the subject of much debate in the Courts. In the Cheltenham Builders'? case,
it was considered that “...at the very least, Parliament required the users of the land
to be the inhabitants of somewhere that could sensibly be described as a locality...
there has to be, in my judgement, a sufficiently cohesive entity which is capable of
definition’. The judge later went on to suggest that this might mean that locality
should normally constitute ‘some legally recognised administrative division of the
county’'.

40.In cases where the locality is large, it will also be necessary to identify whether

41.

there is a qualifying ‘neighbourhood within a locality’. A neighbourhood is a much
more fluid concept: ‘it is common ground that a neighbourhood need not be a
recognised administrative unit. A housing estate might well be described in ordinary
language as a neighbourhood... The Registration Authority has to be satisfied that
the area alleged to be a neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness;
otherwise the word “neighbourhood” would be stripped of any real meaning’™. It
should be noted that the neighbourhood relied upon may fall within one or more
localities and, similarly, there may be more than one qualifying neighbourhood
within the relevant locality or localities™.

The applicants case was South Tankerton and Chestfield are each
‘neighbourhoods’ with the ‘locality’ of Canterbury City Council’s administrative area.
Alternatively, the applicant contended that the electoral ward of Chestfield and
Swalecliffe was capable of constituting a qualifying ‘locality’.

42.There was some debate at the Inquiry as to whether an electoral ward was capable

of being a qualifying locality within the definition of the 2006 Act. The objectors’
case was that an electoral ward is not capable of constituting qualifying locality and,
even if it is, the present-day Canterbury City Council ward of Chestfield and
Swalecliffe could not be relied upon because it only came into existence in 2003.
On this issue, the Inspector concluded that an electoral ward is a potentially
qualifying locality but accepted the objectors’ submission that application could not

2R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at 90

PR (Cheltenham Builders Ltd. v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at 92

' Adamson v Paddico (267) Ltd and Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council and others [2012] EWCA
Civ 262

Page 34



succeed on the basis of the Chestfield and Swalecliffe ward as it was not in
existence throughout the whole of the relevant period.

43.The Inspector did, however, accept the applicant’s alternative case that South
Tankerton and Chestfield were each ‘neighbourhoods’ with the ‘locality’ of
Canterbury City Council’s administrative area. Although the objectors did not seek
to challenge the suggestion that the area administrated by Canterbury City Council
was a qualifying locality, they did take issue with the description of Chestfield and
South Tankerton and the Inspector heard argument from both sides as to whether
or not these areas could constitute qualifying nrighbourhoods.

44.Having considered those arguments, the Inspector concluded that both Chestfield
and South Tankerton both had a sufficient degree of cohesiveness to justify being
described as individual neighbourhoods.

“a significant number”

45.The word “significant” in this context does not mean considerable or substantial:
‘what matters is that the number of people using the land in question has to be
sufficient to indicate that the land is in general use by the community for informal
recreation rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers’*®. Thus, the
test is a qualitative, not quantitative one, and what constitutes a ‘significant number’
will depend upon the individual circumstances of each case.

46.Although the Inspector heard a considerable amount of evidence in relation to the
recreational use of the application site, and was satisfied that it had been used by a
significant number of local residents in the latter part of the relevant period, as is
noted above, the Inspector was not satisfied that during the early part of the
relevant period a significant number of the local residents had used the whole of the
application site, particularly during the growing season.

(d) Whether use of the land by the inhabitants is continuing up until the date of
application or meets one of the criteria set out in sections 15(3) or (4)?

47.The Commons Act 2006 requires use of the land to have taken place ‘as of right’ up
until the date of application or, if such use has ceased prior to the making of the
application, the application must have been made either within two years from the
date upon which use ‘as of right ceased or, if use ‘as of right’ ceased prior to 6
April 2007, within five years from the date upon which use ‘as of right’ ceased.

48.In this case, the application was made on 14™ September 2009. It was common
ground that use ‘as of right’ had ceased prior to 2007 and, as such, the applicant
had a five year period of grace within which to make her application. In order for the
application to succeed on this point, therefore, the earliest date upon which use ‘as
of right’ can have been challenged must be 15" September 2004.

49.When the application was originally made, the applicant contended that use had
ceased to be ‘as of right’ in October 2004. However, it later became apparent that
the landowner had taken various steps to challenge recreational use prior to that
time and the issue before the Inspector was therefore whether use of the

YR (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd.) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 at paragraph 71
Page 35



application site had continued to be ‘as of right’ up until 15" September 2004. If use
cased to be ‘as of right’ prior to this time, the effect would be that the applicant had
not made her application within the prescribed five year period of grace and,
consequently, the application would not be capable of meeting this element of the
legal tests.

50.As is noted above, the Inspector found that use of the application site ceased to be

51.

‘as of right on 8" September 2004 when ‘private property no trespassing’ notices
were erected by the landowner. Although this is only a matter of days before the
15" September cut off point, nonetheless, the application was therefore not made
within the necessary five year period.

Strictly speaking, the application should fail on this point alone as indeed it is not an
issues that can be remedied (e.g. by the submission of further evidence). However,
as is noted elsewhere in this report, there are a number of other deficiencies in the
application which have led the Inspector to recommend rejection of this application
and it is not the case that this application would fail solely on a technicality.

(e) Whether use has taken place over a period of twenty years or more?

52.In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has

been used for a full period of twenty years. In this case, the twenty year period
relied upon by the applicant (“the material period”) is 15" September 1984 to 15"
September 2004.

53.In light of her findings in relation to the other legal tests, the Inspector concluded

that'®:

“I was not satisfied that the level of use of the land as a whole at the
beginning of the relevant period up until about 1994 was sufficient to
signify the assertion of a right by the local inhabitants. Furthermore, |
was not satisfied that use as of right continued right to the end of the
relevant period 15" September 1984 — 15" September 2004: in my
Jjudgement the combination of the two ‘PRIVATE NO TRESPASSING”
sings which were erected on the Ridgeway boundary of the field on 7"
September 2004, together with the erection and padlocking of a new
gate on 14" September 2004, was sufficient to convey to any
reasonable member of the public using those entrances to the field the
fact that his access to and use of the land was no longer going to be
tolerated. Accordingly, use as of right ceased before the end of the
relevant period. The application should be rejected for this reason.”

Inspector’s conclusions

54.The Inspector’s overall conclusion was that the application should fail. She said:

‘I conclude that the applicant has failed to show use as of right of the
application land by a significant number of local inhabitants for the whole
of the relevant period. This is for two reasons: (1) because the applicant
has failed to satisfy me that such use as there was of the application land
in the period 1984-1994 was sufficient to have the appearance of the
assertion of a right to use the whole of the application land for lawful

'® see paragraph 21.13 of the Inspector’s report dated 11™ November 2012

Page 36



sports and pastimes and (2) because | am persuaded that the steps taken
on behalf of the landowner by 14" September 2004 to secure the land and
deter trespassers were sufficient to communicate to a reasonable user of
the application land that his use was contentious and therefore that use
did not continue, as is required for the statutory test to be satisfied in this
case, down to 15" September 2004”.

Subsequent correspondence

55.0n receipt, the Inspector’s report was forwarded to the applicant and the objectors
for their information and further comment.

Objectors’ comments

56.Mr. P. Watkins, on behalf of the first objector (OW Prestland Ltd. and Kitewood
Estates Ltd.), wrote to confirm his support for the Inspector’'s recommendation but
did not have any comments to make on the report.

57.Mr. M. Lewer, the second objector, also confirmed his support for the Inspector’'s
recommendation (see Appendix C). He said that case had involved a considerable
amount of oral and documentary evidence, and the thorough approach of the
Inspector to the evidence could be seen in the four appendices to the report that,
collectively, run to 244 pages. That approach had enabled her to assess which
witnesses were reliable and where, on a balance of probabilities, the truth on issues
of fact lay. Mr. Lewer considered it significant not only that some of the evidence
given at the Inquiry by the applicant’s lead witnesses had been described the
Inspector as inaccurate and confused, but also that the Inspector heard from only
six witnesses in support of the application whose evidence she was able to call
reliable.

58.Mr Lewer considered that the Inspector had rejected key elements of the applicant’s
case and had made two significant findings of fact that were fatal to the applicants
case; namely that the level and nature of use of the application site during the first
ten years of the relevant period had not been sufficient to demonstrate to a
reasonable landowner that the application site had been in recreational use by the
local community and that notices erected early in September 2004 had been
sufficient to render any recreational use contentious by communicating to the users
that access to the application site was no longer being tolerated. Mr. Lewer
concluded by saying that “after a lengthy and very thorough hearing and a
comprehensive analysis of the evidence presented and of the law, the Inspector
decided in favour of the objectors. On that basis | ask the committee to adopt the
report and recommendations of the Inspector and reject the claim”.

Applicant’s comments

59.The applicant responded by way of a letter from the Kent Law Clinic dated 18"
December 2012, a copy of which is attached at Appendix B. The applicant’s view
was that the Inspector had made “a number of fundamental error of approach in the
report which render her overall recommendation to refuse the application unsound”.

60.The applicant expressed concerns that the Inspector had applied her own,
additional test when considering the evidence (namely whether a reasonable owner

Page 37



61.

would have regarded inhabitants as asserting a general right of recreational use).
This, according to the applicant, is contrary to the recent decision in Lewis" in
which the Court confirmed that the only requirement when deciding whether
recreational use was ‘as of right’ was for use to have taken place without force,
without secrecy and without permission. Thus, it was submitted that the Inspector
erred in considering whether the landowner would have assumed that rights were
being asserted by the users instead of simply looking at whether use of the
application site had taken place ‘as of right’ during the relevant period.

The applicant did not agree with the Inspector’s conclusion that use of tracks across
and around the application site should be discounted. It was submitted that walking
on tracks is a lawful pastime and there is no reason why use of the application site
for waking up and down cannot be referable both to use as a path and qualify
towards Village Green registration. The applicant further added that there was no
reason why fruit picking should be attributed to use of a footpath (and hence
discounted as qualifying use).

62. Another criticism of the Inspector’s report was that she had found it to be strongly

arguable that the trampling down of hay constituted a criminal offence and, thus,
that any recreational activities which involved damage to the hay crop during the
growing season would not fall within the category of a lawful sport or pastime. The
applicant cited the example of a worn crease resulting from playing cricket and
argued that all sporting activities on grass will inevitably lead to some wear and tear
to the grass. Furthermore, the Inspector had made no finding that any individual
had knowingly or recklessly damaged the crop so as to be liable of criminal
damage.

63.The applicant disputed that there had been insufficient qualifying use of the

application site between 1984 and 1994 on the basis that users had stuck to the
beaten tracks through the hay during the growing season. The applicant’s position
was that there is no indication in the Commons Act 2006 that Parliament intended
to exclude hay meadows from registration as a Village Green and it would be wrong
to deny the inhabitants’ right to recreation on the basis of obvious use for seven
months or so of the year, merely because during some years they kept off the crop
whilst it was growing.

64.Finally, the applicant challenged the Inspector’s finding that the notices erected by

the landowner in September 2004 had been sufficient to render use contentious.
The test to be applied is whether the landowner had done all that was reasonable
and proportionate to the use in question, to endeavour to contest and interrupt it,
and to make clear that his protest would be backed by legal action or physical
obstruction. In this case, only two signs were initially erected around the application
site, despite there being at least six entrances, and the signs did not state that
trespassers would be prosecuted.

65.Overall, the applicant considered that the only fair and lawful outcome of the

application was to register the land as a Town or Village Green.

R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] UKSC 11

Page 38



Further advice

66.In light of the comments received, further legal advice was sought. As the original

Inspector has now left the Bar to take up a public appointment, it was not possible
to seek further advice from her. Instead, a different Counsel (Mr. Tom Cosgrove)
was instructed to read the report, as well as the comments received from the
parties, and to provide advice as to how the County Council should proceed.

67.The written advice received, a copy of which is attached for reference at Appendix

D, reviewed in turn each of the applicant’s five main criticisms of the report.

68.0n the first issue, Counsel agreed that it is clear following the decision in Lewis'®

that the tripartite test of whether user was without force secrecy or permission is
sufficient to establish whether use by local inhabitants has taken place ‘as of right'.
However, Counsel noted that the rationale behind ‘as of right’ is acquiescence,
which means that the landowner must be in a position to know that a right is being
asserted and acquiesce in the assertion of that right. Therefore, as a matter of law,
it is relevant to consider whether the nature and frequency of use enabled a
reasonable landowner to know that local inhabitants were engaging in recreational
activities on the land. Counsel did not consider that the overall approach by the
Inspector was in error or that there was any identifiable error of law in her approach,;
rather, she set out the correct overall legal test and applied it properly.

69.In relation to the exclusion from qualifying uses of walking along defined tracks,

Counsel advised that it is permissible in law, depending on the facts, for certain
elements of use to be discounted. The approach of the Inspector was, in Counsel’'s
view, correct and she applied such legal principles and formed her conclusions in a
way that appears to be reasonable. Counsel did not consider there to be any force
in the applicant’s criticism on this point.

70.Counsel’s view on the treading down of the grass is that the applicant is wrong to

71.

assert that a recreational activity would be lawful even if criminal offences were
carried out at the same time. In any event, the issue did not form part of the
Inspector’s reasons for recommending rejection of the application and as such the
County Council need not place any reliance on this aspect of the Inspector’s report
in determining the application.

Counsel did not see any merit in the applicant’s criticism of the Inspector’s
approach to the use of the application site during the growing season. He
considered the analysis of the Inspector to be sound and her findings reasonable in
light of the evidence and law she refers to.

72.Finally, Counsel rejected the applicant’s proposition that the Inspector was wrong to

find that the landowner had taken reasonable steps to bring his opposition to the
recreational use of the land to the attention of the users. He considered that the
Inspector accurately set out the applicable and relevant law and addressed properly
the points raised by the parties on this issue.

YR (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] UKSC 11

Page 39



73.0Overall, the further advice received suggests that there is little merit in the
applicant’'s comments and no obvious reason to depart from the Inspector’s
recommendation.

Conclusion

74.For the reasons set out above and, having carefully considered the Inspector’'s
thorough and detailed analysis of the evidence (contained in her report) as well as
the comments received from the parties and the further advice obtained from
Counsel, it would appear that the legal tests in relation to the registration of the land
as a new Town or Village Green have not been met and, accordingly, none of the
land the is the subject of the application is capable of registration as a new Town or
Village Green.

Recommendation

75.1 recommend, for the reasons set out in the Inspector’s report dated 11" November
2012 and the further advice dated 31 January 2013, that the applicant be informed
that the application to register land known as Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable has
not been accepted.

Accountable Officer:

Mr. Mike Overbeke — Tel: 01622 221513 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk
Case Officer:

Miss. Melanie McNeir — Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Countryside Access Service,
Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the case officer for further
details.

Background documents

APPENDIX A — Plan showing application site

APPENDIX B — Applicant’s comments on the Inspector’s report (in the form of a letter
dated 18/12/12 from the Kent Law Clinic)

APPENDIX C — Objector’'s comments on the Inspector’s report (in the form of notes
from Mr. M. Lewer received on 06/12/12)

APPENDIX D - Further advice from Counsel (dated 31/01/13)

Page 40




613000

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing the application site

POrts
Ground

166000
166000

4

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permis$ion of

of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (c) Crown Copyright rd

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and méy lead to pros*e%
Z

!
613000

Land subject to Village Green application at
Grasmere Pastures, Whitstable

%/}//}/4// Coundl 1

Scale 1:5000




APPENDIX B — Applicant’s
comments on the Inspector’s report
(in the form of a letter dated 18/12/12
from the Kent Law Clinic)

Ms Melanie McNeir Law C]'ITTIC

Countryside Access Service
Kent County Council

Invicta House John Filzpalrick Direclor

County Hall Jan Bird Solicitor
. Calharine Carpenler Solicitos
Maidstone Efaine Hestop Solicilar
Efaine $heriatl Sollcilor
Kent ME14 1XX Graham Tegg Solleilor

Harnah Ugtow Solickoy
Sheona York Soliciter

Lisa Appleyard Assisiant
18 December 2012 Penny Grinter Assisianl

T 0227 023311

Fr 01227 624858

£ law-clinlo@kenl.ac.uk
v kent.ac,ukAaw/

Dear Ms McNeir

Re: Application 617 to register land known as Grasmere Pastures, Whitstable, Kent as a
Town or Village Green

I am writing as solicitor on behalf of the Applicant and would be grateful if you could put
this letter before the Regulation Committee Member Panel.

We have now had an opportunity to consider the lengthy report of the inspector Miss Lana
Wood dated 11 November 2012 (‘the Report’) which we trust you will consider carefully and
in full before determining whether to grant my Application to register the Pastures as a
Town or Village Green (‘TVG'),

While we wish to pay tribute to the time and effort that Miss Wood has clearly put into
considering our application, it is regrettably obvious that she has made a number of
fundamental errors of approach in the Report which render her averall recommendation to
refuse the application unsound. We are writing to point these out and urge you not to
follow her recommendation.

They are, In brief:

- application of her own extra-statutory test for whether the use of the pastures
qualifies to allow registration;

- wrongly discounting admitted use of the land from consideration;

- wrongly suggesting that treading down the grass renders activities on the Pastures
unlawfui.

-~ wrongly placing decisive weight on the extent of recreational use of the land during
the hay-growing season without regard to the overall extent of the use; and

Kert Law Clnle
Elini College

1 University of Kent
Canlerbury
Kenl CT2 7NS

tiniled:Kingdon

Page 42




- inconsistent and flawed treatment of the evidence as to whether the landowners
had acted proportionately to contest local residents’ use of the land.

These errors amount to clear errors of law and any decision which was made that adopted
Miss Wood’s reasoning would be susceptible to be quashed on an application for judicial
review. We feel duty-bound to point them out so that a lawful decision can be made by you
as the Registration Authority.

| should once again remind you that our legal submissions to Miss Wood were set out in
detail in our Opening and Closing Submissions and { urge you also to consider those for
yourselves when deciding whether to adopt her recommendations.

The erroneous overal! test applied

Miss Wood’s executive summary says:

‘the Applicant failed to satisfy me that such use as there was of the application land
in the period 1984-1994 was sufficient to have the appearance of the assertion of a
right to use the whole of the application land for lawful sports and pastimes’.

At paragraph 11.17, she says:

‘The question the Registration Authority must address in deciding whether the
application land should be registered in spite of the hay growing or other activity
carried out with the authority of the landowner is the following: whether use has
been such as would have appeared to a reasonable landowner to be the exercise of a
public right. In reaching a conclusion on that question, the Registration Authority
should have regard to the use made of the land by the owner, as relevant to the
question of whether a reasonable landowner would have regarded people using it for
sports and pastimes as doing so as of right.”

At paragraph 17.17 she says:

‘.1 think that the key issue is how the owner’s own use of the application land affects
the question of whether a reasonable landowner would have regarded people using
the land for sports and pastimes as doing so as of right,”

What Miss Wood has done is to take as her. touchstone an overarching test of whether a
reasonable owner would have regarded inhabitants as asserting a general right of
recreational use. She applies that test again and again (e.g. at paras 11.32, 17.8, 17.20,
17.25, 17.30,17.39, 17.44, 17.46, 21.7, 21.10})

Pzage 43




That approach is directly contrary to the decision of the Supreme Court in Lewis v Redcar
[2010] UKSC 11.

The Lewis case was about use of a golf course for-{amongst other activities) recreational
dog-walking. The dog-walkers were acting nec vi, nec clam, nec precario (not by force or
contentiously, nor by stealth, nor by revocable permission of the owner). They kept out of
the way of the golfers and the question was whether it mattered that by appearing to defer
to the golfers a reasonable landowner would not have thought they were asserting a right
to use the land. The court had to decide whether there was an additional test that had to
be satisfied other than the traditional ‘tripartite test’ that use be ‘nec vi, nec clam, nec
precario’, in order to gualify as use ‘as of right’ for the purpose of section 15. .

Miss Wood’s error seems to have arisen because she has taken a single sentence
(underlined below) of Lord Hope's judgment in Lewis out of its context. At paragraphs [53]
he set out the issues and at [67] he gave his determination: :

‘[53] As Lord Walker ISC has explained, the guestion is whether the land ought to
have been registered. In an attempt to focus their arguments more precisely, the
parties were agreed that it raised the following issues. (1) Where land has been
extensively used for lawful sports and pastimes nec vi, nec clam, nec precario for 20
years by the local inhabitants, is it necessary under section 15{4) of the 2006 Act to
ask the further question whether it would have appeared to a reasonable landowner
that users were asserting a right to use the land for the lawful sports and pastimes in
which they were indulging? (2} If the answer to (1) is “yes”, does the mere fact that
local inhabitants did not prevent the playing of golf by walking in front of the balil (or
seeking to prevent the playing of strokes by golfers) preclude the use from being “as
of right” under section 15(4) ? {3) If the answer to (2) is “no”, did the local authority
{and the inspector) err in law in concluding that the inhabitants’ use was not “as of
right”, given what the inspector described as “overwhelming evidence” that
recreational use of the land by local people deferred to the golfing use?...

[67] ...it is, | think, possible to analyse the structure of section 15(4} in this way. The
first question to be addressed is the quality of the user during the 20-year period. it
must have been by a significant number of the inhabitants. They must have been
indulging in lawful sports and pastimes on the land... And they must have been doing
so “as of right”: that is to say, openly and in the manner that a person rightfully
entitled would have used it. If the user for at least 20 years was of such amount and

in such manner as would reasonably be regarded as being the assertion of a public
right {see R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC 889 , paras 6, 77), the
- owner will be taken to have acquiesced in it—unless he can claim that one of the

three vitiating circumstances applied in his case. If he does, the second question is

whether that claim can be made out, Once the second question is out of the way—
either because it has not heen asked, or because it has been answered against the

F"gage 44




owner—that is an end of the matter. There is no third question. The answer to the
first issue... is: No.’

Lord Hope’s underlined sentence, taken out of context, might suggest that there is a test of
whether there is ‘user...of such amount and in such manner as would reasonably be
regarded as being the assertion of a public right’. But in fact it is clear that use by a
significant number of inhabitants, for lawful sports or pastimes will ipso facto be “user...of
such amount and in such manner as would reasonably be regarded as being the assertion of
a public right”, unless one limb of the ‘tripartite test’ was satisfied so that user was not ‘as
of right’. In other words, Lord Hope’s underlined sentence was recapitulating what he had
just said previously. He was not ruling that there was some overarching test. That is clear
from his ruling on the identified issues that “there is no third question”. 1t is also clear from
the judgments of his colleagues.

Lord Brown said (at [107]}:

‘I see no good reason whatever to superimpose upon the conventional tripartite
test for the registration of land which has been extensively used by local inhabitants
for recreational purposes a further requirement that It would appear to a
reasonable [andowner that the users were asserting a right to use the land for the
lawful sports and pastimes in which they were indulging. As Lord Walker of
Gestingthorpe JSC has explained, there is nothing in the extensive jurisprudence on
this subject to compel the imposition of any such additional test.” [My emphasis].

Lord Kerr agreed (at {116]):

‘I am content to accept and agree with the judgments of Lord Hope DPSC, Lord
Walker and Lord Brown 1ISC that no overarching requirement concerning the
outward appearance of the manner In which the local inhabitants used the land is
to be imported into the tripartite test. The inhabitants must have used it as if of
right but that requirement is satisfied if the use has been open in the sense that
they have used it as one would expect those who had the right to do so would
have used it; that the use of the lands did not take place in secret; and that it was
not on foot of permission from the owner. If the use of the lands has taken place in
such circumstances, it is unnecessary to inquire further as to whether it would be
reasonable for the owner to resist the local inhabitants' use of the tands. Put simply,
if confronted by such use over a period of 20 years, it is ipso facto reasonable to
expect an owner to resist or restrict the use if he wishes to avoid the possibility of
registration.” [My emphasis]. ‘

This position was put beyond any conceivable doubt by the Court of Appeal in the case of
London Tara Hotel v Kensington Close Hotel [2011] EWCA Civ 1356 where Lord Neuberger
MR at [28] explained the effect of Lewis:

P%ge 45




38 In Redcar [2010] 2 AC 70, Lord Walker gave the leading judgment, with which
three of the other four Justices expressly agreed. He said that “[t]he proposition
that ‘as of right’ is sufficiently described by the tripartite test nec vi, nec clam, nec
precario (not by force, nor stealth, nor the licence of the owner)” was “established
by high authority” — see at [2010] 2 AC 70, para 20, citing, inter alia , observations of
Lord Davey and Lord Lindley in Gardner {1903] AC 229, and of Lord Bingham and
Lord Rodger in Beresford [2004] 1 AC 889. Lord Hope reached the same conclusion
at [2010] 2 AC 70, para 67, when he said that “the owner will be taken to have
acquiesced in {a use] — unless he can claim that one of the three vitiating
circumstances applied in his case”. Lord Brown and Lord Kerr also expressed the
same view at [2010] 2 AC 70, paras 107 and 116 respectively. Lord Rodger said at
[2010] 2 AC 70, para 87, that, “the basic meaning of {as of right’] is ... hec vi, nec
clam, nec precario”. [My emphasis].

Thus, it is clear that where user comprises lawful sports and pastimes, indulged in by a
significant number of inhabitants of the locality (i.e. more than just a few individual
trespassers, as Miss Wood accepted at paragraph 21.4), the land must be registered unless
one of the three vitiating factors applies.

In wrongly considering what rights a hypothetica! landowner would take to have heen
asserted by inhabitants partaking in individual activities {as to which see further the next
section of this letter) instead of simply asking whether overall the use was for lawful
pastimes and sports by a significant number of people, Miss Wood arrived at completely the
wrong conclusion on use.

Wrongly discounting use of tracks across and around the land (and other evidence of use
of the whole field) '

Miss Wood said at paragraph 17.25:

‘I accept the objectors’ submission that use of the recognised footpaths and other
defined routes should be discounted for the purposes of the application when
considering to what extent the Applicant has shown that the land has been used for
lawful sports and pastimes.”

At paragraph 23.10, Miss Wood said:

‘During the growing period, most local inhabitants kept to the worn paths across the
field. in my judgment a reasonable landowner would have regarded this use [as] the
exercise or excessive exercise of a potential right of way, and it therefore falls to be

nge 46




disregarded when considering whether it would have appeared to a reasonable
landowner that a general right to use his land for recreation was being asserted.’

Even if - which we do not accept - Miss Wood was right that the whole question boils down
to the overall impression a reasonable landowner would get, this approach was wrong. It
was wrong because the use of the land had to be considered as a whole, including the use of
informal tracks. Walking on tracks is a lawful pastime just as other activities on the land
were. The Commons Registration Act 2006 does not say that walking is to be discounted.
There is no reason why use of land for walking up and down cannot be referable both to use
as a track/path and qualify towards TVG registration as a ‘lawful pastime’. If overall, the
whole of the land was used for lawful sports and pastimes then it must be registered. The
use of tracks is one component in the overall use of the land. Even if by itself walking along
any one track would not be sufficient to evince use of the whole of the land, it contributes
to that impression of use of the site. It is wrong to ‘discount’ it, because that would leave a
distorted picture of the level of use of the field as a whole.

Miss Wood also discounted other activities which were specific to particular parts of the
field at paragraph 17.39: '

‘..the area along the brook was the attractive area for nature observation...any reaf
nature study...took place there and would not therefore have been regarded by a
sensible landowner as evidence of a claim to use the whole of the application land for
fawful sports and pastimes, but rather as specific to that area. Similarly the fruit and
elderflower activities could only, because the bushes were in the hedges around the
field, have taken place around the edges of the application land, and in my judgment
would have been reqarded as an excessive use of the perimeter footpath, rather than
as an assertion of a right to use the whole of the application land’.

Again, by wrongly discounting every activity which took part in particular parts of the
Pastures, Miss Wood artificially airbrushes them from the scene and artificially obscures the
true impression that the Authority would get {or a hypothetical landowner would have got if
Miss Wood’s analysis of Lewis were correct) from all the activities on the land taken as a
whole.

If Parfiament intended greens only to be registered where the whole field was used at once
{the only common example would be for team sports) then it would not have used the word
‘pastimes’ as well as “sports’ in section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.

Doubtless, when considering paragraph 17.39, Councillors will also agree that it is unreal to
attribute fruit-picking - not an activity involving walking up and down in a line - to use of a
footpath. And in any event, there was no legally recognised ‘perimeter footpath’ to which
one could attribute such activities.

P%ge 47




Lastly, on the subject of evidence of user of the land it was bizarre for Miss Wood to accept
that there was rubbish strewn all over the field which the farmer had to pick up {paragraph
17.29), but not to accept that it was more likely than not attributable to use of the whole of
the field. This Authority has to reach a decision on the evidence ‘on the balance of
probabilities’: what is more likely than not. Miss Wood’s implausible explanation was that
“The rubbish could well have blown or been thrown from a position other than that in which
it was eventually found”. The proposition that empty bottles and cans would be thrown
from the margins so as to be evenly distributed across a forty-acre field is utterly incredible.
Nor are they the sort of thing that one would throw for a dog to catch as the dog could
harm itself in biting them. Moreover, if rubbish had been blown then unless the wind blew
evenly from all directions and the field were entirely flat {neither of which is the case) the
rubbish would naturally accumulate at one side or the other. [t would not be so evenly
distributed that the farmer Mr Goldsmith had to ‘walk the whole field’ and take a day to
pick it all up (see our Closing Submissions para 114{b} pp.54-5 and Mr Goldsmith’s
statement at p.30 of the Objectors’ bundle at paragraph 9).

Wrongly suggesting that treading down of grass rendered use of the field ‘unlawful

Miss Wood was apparently prepared to accept as ‘strongly arguable’ the absurd submission
of the Objectors that use of the field was probably unlawful {paragraphs 17.53 and 21.11).
The argument was that the trampling — even to a minute extent — of grass constituted
criminal damage to the landowner’s property, which would be unlawful and hence any
pastimes resulting in the treading-down of the grass would also be unfawful pastimes.

Of course, alf sporting activities on grass will require people to tread on the grass, and so
will result in some greater or lesser degree of wear to the grass. An obvious example would
be a worn crease resulting from playing cricket. If the Objectors’ submission were correct,
then no grassy area could ever be registrable as a Green, It is obvious that Parliament could
not have intended the Commons Act to have such a meaning, as this would defeat its
purpose.

The Objectors have explained that since walking is itself a lawful pastime the test in Section
15 is met even if criminal offences are committed at the same time when the pastime is
carried out. The safeguard against hooliganism being used to establish village green rights is
the requirement that qualifying use be ‘nec vi’ — peaceable. Plainly, deliberate vandalism
would be vi. ' '

Further or alternatively, since to establish the offence of criminal damage a ‘guilty mind’
{mens rea) is also required as well as damage and Miss Wood made no finding that the
witnesses had any such guilty mind, it is not open to the Registration Authority on the
evidence to find that any criminal offences were committed. Miss Wood accepted that
“some members of the public, living in towns and used to walking on grass in their gardens
and in parks, might fail to address their minds to the possibility that by walking on a growing

F?age 48




hay crop they will damage it” (paragrap-h 16.19). She made no finding that any individuals
had knowingly or recklessly damaged the crop. '

Further, this Registration Authority is not entitled to find that crimes were committed by
specific individuals without proof of their conviction or holding a fair trial of the issue
because it would be a breach of natural justice and contrary to the presumption of
innocence, ‘

In any event, the House of Lords has ruled that the commission of criminal offences will not
bar the acquisition of a prescriptive right over land provided that the offence is subject to a
defence that the landowner consented (Bakewell Management Ltd v Brandwood [2004]
UKHL 14; [2004] 2 A.C. 519, especially Lord Scott’s speech at [25], [46] and [47]).

Lastly, even if walking on the growing crop amounted to criminal damage and could not
count as a ‘lawful pastime’, Miss Wood found as a fact that no damage was caused by
walking on the grass outside the growing season (paragraph 17.45). Accordingly, the land
was used for lawful sports and pastimes by a significant number of people for at least 7
months annually, and should properly be registered on that basis alone. See the next
section of this [etter on this point.

Wrongly attributing decisive weight to use of the land in the growing season

After hearing all the oral testimony and reading all the documentary evidence, Miss Wood
found as facts that:

e “ftlhe growing period each year was from between mid-April and mid-May,
depending upon the weather, until harvest, in late July, August or early September,
again depending upon the weather and on Mr Goldsmith’s other commitments. The
land was therefore fallow from at least mid-September until mid-April each year”
{Report, paragraph 16.2). Thatis, @ minimum of 7 months of the year, every year.

e “.the application land was used throughout the relevant period by a sigm'ﬁéant
number of local residents outside the growing season for lawful sports and pastimes,
and particularly immediately after the hay was cut. Once the hay was cut people did
not need to keep to the paths and could walk wherever they pleased on the field...”
(paragraph 17.45).

s There was use of the field “largely confined...to the paths across and around the
application land during the growing period” each year from 1984-1994 during the
growing season {albeit artificially disregarded entirely by Miss Wood) (paragraph
17.46, cf 17.22, 17.31).

e From about 1994 to the end of the relevant period, the-use of the land during the
growing season would itself “have appeared to a reasonable landowner to have the

Psage 49




character of the assertion of a public right to use the whole of the land for recreation
rather than...the tracks” (paragraph 17.44).

Miss Woaod accordingly recommends refusal of the application on grounds of insufficient
use solely for the reason that inhabitants stuck to the beaten tracks through the hay while it
was growing between 1984 and 1994. [ have already explained that whether the use would
have appeared to a hypothetical landowner to be asserting a public right is emphatically not
the test to apply. 1 have also explained why it is wrong to simply ignore the use of the
tracks, rather than viewing it as part of a broader picture of use of the whole field. Still less
is it correct to artificially and arbitrarily break down the pattern of use and to say that
because the users during the summer would not have appeared to a hypothetical landowner
to be asserting a right to walk on every part of the field, that is a reason for refusing
registration when they did so during the rest of the year.

If one stands back and looks at Miss Wood's overall findings about use of the field, the
whole of it was always used for 20 years for at least 7 months of each and every year for
recreation, such that a reasonable landowner on the spot would have realised that the use
was of all parts of the land and was not confined to tracks.

On village greens and commons, inhabitants and landowners have to exercise ‘give and
take’ and ‘let and let live’ {Lewis v Redcar [2010] 2 A.C. 70 - Lord Walker at [73]-[75], Lord .
In Lewis Lord Walker, whose judgment as | have explained was concurred in by the other
Supreme Court Justices, said {paragraph [76]):

‘...it would be wrong to assume, as the inspector did in this case, that deference to
the owner's activities, even if it is as he put it overwhelming, is inconsistent with the
assertion by the public to use of the land as of right for lawful sports and pastimes. It
is simply attributable to an acceptance that where two or more rights coexist over
the same land there may be occasions when they cannot practically be enjoyed
simultaneously.’

Hay meadows are just the sort of land that would traditionally be village greens (as in Fitch v
Fitch 170 E.R. 449; (1797) 2 Esp. 543). In Lewis, Lord Walker noted (paragraph [28]) that

“Taking a single hay crop from a meadow is a low-level agricultural activity
compatible with recreational use for the late summer and from then until next
spring. Fitch v Fitch {1797) 2 Esp 543 is venerable authority for that.”

There is absolutely no indication in the Commons Act 2006 that Parliament intended to
exclude hay meadows from registration. It would be wrong and inconsistent with the
principte of ‘give and take’ to deny the local inhabitants’ right to registration on the basis of
year-in, year-out obvious use for 7 months or more, merely because on some years they
deferred to the fariming activities and kept off the crop while it was growing.

F9age 50




In R (Newhaven Port and Properties Ltd) v East Sussex CC [2012] EWHC 647 (Admin); {2012]
3 W.LR. 709, the application land was a beach which was submerged and entirely
inaccessible for 42% of the time, and was wholly uncovered by water for only a few minutes
each day. Unlike the field in our case, the beach was unused for most of the time (see
paragraphs [61] and [63] of Mr Justice Ouseley’s judgment).  Nevertheless Mr Justice
Ouseley concluded (at [70]) that that discontinuity of use was no reason to refuse to register
the land:

“The lawful recreational use does not have to be the sole or even dominant use of the
land. The dominant use of the land is what happens when it is wholly or partly
covered by water. Its dominant characteristic is that most of it is covered by water
most of the time. But it is not of the essence of a registrable village green that the
qualifying recreational use be the sole or dominant use, or that it has any
characteristic beyond that it has lawfully occurred as of right for the requisite period”

As Mr Justice Quseley recognised, section 24(4) of the Commons Act 2006 allows the
Registration Authority no discretion to register the land provided that it has been used
throughout the relevant period on a non-trivial basis by a significant number of local
inhabitants. {TJhe scope of the phrase “town or village green” is a matter of law; whether
the facts found showed that an area of land falls within it, is not left by statute to the
reasonable judgment of the decision-maker’. Accordingly, on the facts found by Miss Wood
as inspector the Registration Authority is not only entitled to register the Pastures but must
do so.

Inconsistent and flawed approach to the guestion of the landowner's contestation of the

use

Miss Wood adopted the wrong approach when determining that the landowner’s actions
had rendered the trespass on the Pastures ‘vi’ {forcible and/or contested). She found as a
fact that the only action which the landowner had taken to contest or interrupt residents’
“use by 15" September 2004 (the end of the relevant period) was — after at least 20 years of
inaction — to erect a gate on the edge of an adjacent and hitherto overgrown corner of the
field which it is not sought to register as part of the Application, and fo erect a total of 2
signs saying “Private Land No Trespassing”, one at either end of the Ridgway, on about gt
September 2004. (See paragraphs 18.24, 18.26-18.29; 18.34, 18.46, 18.47), There were 6
entrances to the Pastures but only 2 had been marked with signs. The signs did not say that
trespassers would be prosecuted. Users of the field had seen the farmer, but the farmer
had not tried to exclude the inhabitants despite having been well aware of them. Nor had
the landowner.

Pdfe 51




The test for whether use is ‘vi’ is whether the landowner had done all that was reasonable .
proportionate to the use in question, to endeavour to contest and interrupt it, and to make
clear that his protest would be backed by legal action or physical obstruction (Mr Justice
Pumfrey in Smith v Brudenell-Bruce [2002] 2 P. & C.R. 4 at {12]).

Ordinarily, erection of prohibitory signs and/or gates cannot in itself be sufficient to prevent
use of land being ‘as of right’. Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 says:

1)  Where a way over any land...has been actually enjoyed by the public as of
right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.

[..])

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes—
(a) has erected in such manner as to be visible to persons using the way 2
notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway, and
{b) has maintained the notice after the 1st January 1934, or any later date on
which it was erected,
the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient
evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highway’

Subsection (3) would not be required if erection of a sign prevented use being “as of right’;
instead it goes to the owner’s intention. See R (Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of
State for the Environment and Rural Affairs [2007] UKHL 28; [2008]} 1 AC 221 where Lord
Hoffmann said at [24]:

‘ .there may be a notice which says “No right of way. Trespassers will be
prosecuted”. Nevertheless, for upwards of 20 years members of the public
have ignored the notice and used the way, openly and apparently in the
assertion of a right to do so. Their user will satisfy section 31(1) but the
landowner, even on the most objective test, will have satisfied the proviso [in
5.31(3)]." [Emphasis added].

The reqﬁirement in the town and village green legislation for use to be ‘as of right’ was
intended to import the same test as for highways (R v Oxfordshire CC ex parte Sunningwell
PC [2000] 1 A.C. 335, H.L. at 354-356 by Lord Hoffmann).

The doctrine of Vi’ {which literally means ‘force’ and is the root of ‘violent’) discourages
landlords from sleeping on their rights. It requires them to take all reasonable action
against trespassers before those trespassers’ long-standing use rights will be precluded from
counting towards acquisition of a legal right. At the same time, it protects landowners who,
are too poor or infirm to contest the trespass, or are cowed by intimidating, armed or

11
Page 52




violent trespassers. In such circumstances even if no force is used by the trespassers it may
be unreasonable to require the landowner to confront them.

In this case, the trespassers were largely middle-aged and retired residents and their
children and grandchildren. They were in no sense intimidating or aggressive. The
landowner had the means to do more than post 2 signs in the ground and put up a gate
(without any fence) over the 20 year period, and such was freely admitted in cross-
examination. When people continued to walk on the field in defiance of the signs, there
was no further action taken against them before 15" September 2004 to indicate that the
landowner would contest their use of the land.

in fact, in the days and weeks immediately following the end of the retevant period, the
iandowners did take more active steps to contest the user of the land. More signs were put
up. The new tenant farmer told people orally to leave the land. He erected a wire fence
around the field from 16" to 20™ September 2004. He blocked the entrances to the field
with piles of earth. He ploughed a strip around the perimeter. These steps were relatively
straightforward, quick and cheap, and each and any could have been taken at any time
during the relevant period. None of them were. '

This was despite the landowners being aware of the recreational use of the land, and having
been warned by their planning agent Mr Watkins to take action to contest the use at least
as early as 2001. The landowners had ‘slept on their rights’.

The question is not what some users of the field subjectively feared, but what the signs and
gate communicated to a reasonable user of the field. The landowner had not objectively
made clear that he would fence off the whole of the application land, nor that he would
take court action against those trespassing. The residents continued to use the field
without further obstruction or contest. Many of them may well have feared that their
access would be prevented but in the absence of further overt action by the landowner that
cannot prevent the tand being registrable. As Lord Hoffmann observed (above), even a sign
saying that trespassers will be prosecuted may not prevent trespassers” use being ‘as of
right’ if in fact the notice appears to be a ‘dead letter” and no other action is taken.

In those circumstances, Miss Wood was quite wrong to determine that “the landowner took
reasonable steps, proportionate to the user...to...have conveyed to a reasonable user the
fact of the landowner’s.. {sic — ‘opposition’ presumably is meant] and his intention, if the
signs were ignored, to take further steps by obstruction or legal action”.

Miss Wood only reached this surprising conclusion on the basis that she should take into
account the evidence that a significant number of users of the field had actually become
aware of the signs by 13" September and feared that the land would be fenced {paragraph
18.29), and that it was wrong to consider evidence of what the landowner actually did after
14™ september. She said:

12
Page 53




‘I do not think that the right approach is to look at afl the action eventually taken... to
infer what was proportionate because...those steps could easily, and inexpensively,
have been taken at a much earlier date; rather | think | should take a snapshot of the
application land as it was at the end of the relevant period... *

‘Afthough the issue is not what the users, subjectively, understood, but rather what a
reasonable user would have understood, in arriving at an assessment as to what g
reasonable user would have understood | am entitled to and do have regard to what
users actually understood.’ {paragraphs 18.54 and 18.56)

That is completely inconsistent and unfair. The evidence of what the landowners actually
did was evidence of what they reasonably could have been expected to do, just as much as
the evidence of what the users actually knew was relevant to what a hypothetical
reasonable user would have known.

Further and in any event, even if it finds it was unreasonable to expect the landowners to
have done more to contest the open and peaceable use of the land, it is open to the
Registration Authority to disagree with the inspector’s opinion that the existence of an
isolated gate in one hitherto overgrown corner of the field and the signs on one side of the
field was sufficient to contest the trespass by all users of the field including those using
other entrances, to make it clear that access to the whole 40 acres of the field would be
prevented by fencing, That cannot be correct as a matter of common sense.

Conclusion

For the reasons set out above, | am sure that you will agree that Miss Wood's
recommendations are based on flawed reasoning and inconsistent treatment of the
evidence. The only fair and lawful outcome of this application is to register the land as a
Town or Village Green.

Yours sincerely
Elatne Shengtt -
Elaine Sherratt

Clinic Solicitor

13
Page 54




APPENDIX C: Objector’'s comments
on the Inspector’s report (in the form
of notes from Mr. M. Lewer received
on 06/12/12)

Whitstable TVG Inquiry on Grasmere Pastures

Comments by 3™ Objector (Michael Lewer) on Inspector’s report.

Inspector’s role One vital role of the inspector is to hear and assess the oral evidence,

so that she can reach her conclusions and recommendations having observed withesses
giving and being questioned on their evidence, and has had time and opportunity further to
test their credibility by comparing their evidence with evidence available in contemporaneous
documentation. The oral factual evidence in this claim came from 23 witnesses, 16 on
behalf of the applicant, 6 for the objectors and 1 single local resident: the documentary
evidence was voluminous. The thorough approach of the inspector to the evidence she
heard can be seen in the 4 appendices she has provided to her report, which contain her

typed up note of the oral evidence and run to 244 pages.

Witness credibility Wherever the cases being presented were in conflict that exercise

enabled her to assess which witnesses were reliable and where the truth on issues of fact
probably lay. There is no substitute for that procedure. In my submission a committee
without those advantages should not substitute any of their own views on the facts for those
of the inspector. It is very significant that after a strong and strongly worded campaign to
obtain TVG status for this field, the inspector was not able to describe as either reliable or
honest (which were descriptions she gave to the evidence of witnesses whose evidence she
accepted) the evidence of any of the applicant’s 3 principal withesses who had been
members of the committee of the ‘Grasmere Pastures Residents Action Group’, and who

gave oral evidence.

Principal witnesses Statements by the lead witness relating to use of the land were

described by the inspector as ‘inaccurate and potentially misleading’ (para 13.36, p.47) and
‘did not really bear scrutiny’ (13.37). The inspector ‘approached his evidence with a degree
of caution and did not accept it unless it was corroborated by other evidence’ (13.39). Of the
witness who in 2009 had helped draft the supporting statement for the application, as well as
providing his own questionnaires, she concluded that his early evidence was inaccurate
and/or misleading (13.73, p.54). Of the witness in whose name the application was
presented the inspector said her recollection had become confused, and that her evidence

could not be relied upon except where it was corroborated (13.13.45, p.49).
Page 55



Other witnesses for applicant She reached similar conclusions on a further 7 of the 16

witnesses called for the applicant, in each instance recommending that their evidence should
be approached either with caution or was unreliable. That means that of the witnesses
called to support the applicant’s case she criticised on the basis of their credibility over half
(62.5%) (including that of the applicant herself). She heard from only 6 witnesses for the
application whose evidence she was able to call honest or reliable.

Findings of fact Despite the case forcefully put forward by the applicant to Kent CC in
2009 in the Supporting Statement and in evidence that until 1984 the field had been

uncultivated grassland, that it was common land, that local residents had uninterrupted use

of the land, and that the erection of a fence in 2004 was the first time in living memory that
anybody had asserted a right to ownership, the inspector’s finding at para 16, 1-3 (p.59) of
her report wholly rejected every aspect of such a case. She rejected the applicant’s
assertion that the field was uncultivated grassland during the relevant period, by which she
meant every year from 1984 to 2004, and found that during that period the ‘application land
was used to grow a hay crop which was grown and harvested on a commercial basis’. She
added that growing and harvesting of hay was an important part of the farmer’s business,
whose cultivation of the field had included ploughing and reseeding it in 1989 (para 16.14,
p.61) and fertilising and spraying it annually (para 16.3-5).

As well as rejecting the core of the applicant’s case the inspector made 2 significant factual

findings based on her assessment of the witnesses’ credibility. Each is fatal to the claim.

First she found that the level of use of the field by local people during the first 10 years or so
of the 20 year period would not have appeared to a reasonable landowner to have the
character of the assertion of a public right to use the whole field, rather than an assertion of a
public right of way on the tracks (para 17.44-46, p.72).

Secondly she found that notices saying ‘no trespassing’ sufficient to bring home to a
reasonable person that use had become contentious, were placed at both ends of the
Ridgeway (the bridle way giving access to the field) on 7 or 8 September 2004 (see
inspector’s findings at para 18.25-30 and 18.49-50, pp.80 and 87). It followed from that
finding that the application had to be made within 5 years of that date. It was not made until
14 September 2009 (para 3.12, p.8), and accordingly was not made within the 5 years
allowed by the statute. The timing and the placing of the 2 notices and their effect on local

Page 56



people in the circumstances of the access available into the field was an issue with which the
inspector dealt. The inspector said (para 18.55, p.88) that in her judgement the signs were
appropriately positioned in relation to the 2 entrances to the field, and in combination with a
locked gate were sufficient to convey to any reasonable member of the public using those
entrances to the field that access to and use of the land was no longer being tolerated. She
added (18.56) that the signs had quickly become notorious so that users of the field would
have been likely to have been aware that their use of the field was contentious, and (18.57)
that by erecting notices at either end of the Ridgeway the owner had taken reasonable steps,
proportionate to the use he wished to prevent, to bring his opposition to the notice of those
using his land (see also 21.13, p.105) . These are findings of fact, based on what the law

requires.

Issues of law There were also issues of law, in which the inspector held:

a that both Chestfield and South Tankerton satisfied the test of being neighbourhoods
within a locality (para 21.3, p.104), which the objectors had contested.

b that a ‘significant number ’ of inhabitants was not to be considered by reference to the
size of the population of each neighbourhood, as the objectors had argued, but by whether
the number of individuals using the land was sufficient to signify that it was in general use by
the local community (para 21.4, p.104)

c in an appropriate case land which was in use for hay cropping could be registered as
a village green (para 11.17, p.31), though she was not satisfied, having regard to all the
evidence, that that was the situation here (para 17.44, p.72).

d it was not possible to imply, from the finding that the field had been ploughed and
reseeded in 1989, that a licence that permitted use of the land had been given to the public
(11.18, p. 31, and 17.14-16, p.66).

Conclusion After a lengthy and very thorough hearing and a comprehensive analysis of the
evidence presented and of the law, the inspector decided in favour of the objectors. On that
basis | ask the committee to adopt the report and recommendations of the inspector and

reject the claim.

Signed Michael Lewer

Page 57



APPENDIX D — Further advice from
Counsel (dated 31/01/13)

VILLAGE GREEN ADVICE - KENT CC

ADVICE

Introduction

1. Iam asked to advise Kent County Council in refation to a report of an inspector’, Miss Lana
Wood (‘the inspector’), dated 11" November 2012 (‘the repoit’)’. The report related to an
application to register land known as Grasmere Pastures, Whitstable, Kent as a town or
village green and was produced following a public inquiry (‘the land®). I am asked, in
particular, to provide my opinion on the report in the context of issues raised by parties

involved at the inquiry.

2. Ihave been provided with the following material:

(i) A copy of the report’ (but not the various appendices)”.

(if) A letter dated 18™ December 2012 from the Kent Law Clinic on behalf of the Applicant.
(iii} A document headed ‘comments by the 3™ Objector (Michael Lewer) on Inspector’s repott

which is undated®.

The report

3. The inspector concluded that:

! Appointed pursuant to the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008/1961 (as amended). Kent is
one of the pilot authorities to which the 2008 regulations apply.

?{ have taken my instructions to be set out in an e-mail dated 18.12.12 from Melanie McNeir together with
subsequent e-mails confirming the terms of my instruction.

* Running to some 108 pages and dated 11.11.12

*itis important to note that | have not seen any of the material available to and before the Inquiry.

* | note that the e-mait dated 20.12.12 from Melanie McNeir refers to enclosing representations from the
‘second objector’. | have not seen those, but assume that reference was meant to be to the third objector
representations which | have seen? | proceed on that basis.

1

Page 58




“the Applicant has failed to show use as of right of the application land by a significant number of

local inhabitants for the whole of the relevant period for two reasons:

(1) because the Applicant has failed to satisfy me that such use as there was of the application
land in the period 1984-1994 was sufficient to have the appearance of the assertion of a right

to use the whole of the application land for lawful sports and pastimes and

(2) because I am persuaded that the steps taken on behalf of the landowner by 14th September
2004 to secure the land and deter trespassers were sufficient to communicate to a reasonable
user of the application land that his use was contentious and therefore that use did not
continue, as is required for the statutory test to be satisfied in this case, down to 15th

September 2004°.”

4. She accordingly recommended that the application should be rejected’.

Reasoning

5. The application was made under qualifying criteria in s.15 (4) of the Commons Act 2006
(‘the 2006 Act’). To succeed there accordingly needed to be a qualifying period of use of at
least 20 years with that use ceasing before the commencement of section 15 (6 April 2007)
and with the application then being made within a period of 5 years after the cessation of use.
The inspector clearly and accurately set out such provisions in the report® as well as providing
a summary of relevant law and procedure’.

6. The relevant 20 year period identified was 15" September 1984- 15" September 2004'°. The
key issues and the particular issues of fact and law which arose as agreed between the parties

were clearly set out in section 6 of the report.

® Executive summary, p.3; also at conclusions, para 22.1, p.108.

7 Para 22.2, p.108.

8 Paragraphs 3.2-3.4, pps 7-8.

° Report at paragraphs 3.5-4.54 — although | note that the footnote references appear to go awry from
paragraph 4.4 following — there does not appear to be any relevant footnotes for footnote 4, para 4.4, p.10 or
thereafter until one arrives at page 26?

% para 3.12,p.9

Page 59



7. It is clear that the report is a thorough one. It has gone into great detail and has set out clearly
the relevant competing arguments at the inquiry as well as detailed conclusions as to fact and
law on the identified key issues. I do not set out or refer to all such matters in detail in this
advice, but focus in the issues which have been raised by the applicant at this stage. The letter
from the 3™ objector (Mr Lewer) is largely descriptive and, as one might expect, in agreement

with the inspector.

c
@
o

8. In relation to the issue of use, having set out her views on the evidence the inspector

concluded (at 17.44-17.46):

“Conclusions on use

Having regard to all the evidence, I am not satisfied that the level of use of the land at the beginning
of the relevant period during the growing season was such that it would have appeared to a
reasonable landowner to have the character of the assertion of a public right to use the whole of the
application land for recreation rather than the assertion of a public right of way across the tracks.
The level of use increased over the period and by 1994 it probably was sufficient to have appeared to

be the assertion of such a public right.

I am satisfied, having regard to all the evidence, that the application land was used throughout the
relevant period by a significant number of local residents outside the growing season for lawful sports
and pastimes, and particularly immediately after the hay was cut. Once the hay was cut people did not
need to keep to the paths and could walk wherever they pleased on the field. Although it is clear from
the conmsistent positioning of the paths over the years that a considerable number of people must still
have chosen to stick to the paths, the oral evidence of the Applicant’s witnesses supported by the
Hiblen photographs showed that a significant number did not. This use did not cause damage to the

growing crop and was tolerated by the landowner without challenge until August or September 2004.

Page 60



In my judgment, a reasonable landowner, having regard to the extent of use of the application land
both outside and during the growing season for the latter half of the application period, could not
have failed to appreciate that the local inhabitants were asserting a right which he needed to resist if
he wished to prevent it maturing into a prescriptive right, despite the fact that the land was being
farmed for hay. However, I am not satisfied that the level of use by the local people during the early
years of the relevant period, being largely confined, as I find, to the paths across and around the
application land during the growing period, and only extending across the whole of the application
land during the fallow period, was such that a reasonable landowner would have regarded it as

having the character of an assertion of a public right to use the application land for recreation.”

9. In short, the inspector considered that there was insufficient use of the whole of the
application land during the growing season for the use to appear to have been the assertion of

a public right between the beginning of the relevant period and about 1994.

10. In section 21 of her report, the inspector applied in summary form the law to the facts she had

found. She revisited the use points and stated (at paragraphs 21.5-21.8):

“I was not persuaded by the First and Second Objectors’ argument that the effect of the ploughing

and re-seeding of the land in 1989 was to render use after that date impliedly permissive.

In my judgment the correct interpretation of the authorities is that part-time user, in the sense of use
for part only of the year, including sequential user by the landowner and by local residents within
each year of the relevant period, is potentially capable of satisfying the test for registration, if the use
by local residents in all the circumstances was such as would have appeared to a reasonable

landowner to be the exercise of a public right.

The application land was farmed for hay each year during the relevant period. During the fallow
period, local inhabitants used the application land freely. The pattern of use during the growing
period changed over the relevant period. At the beginning of the relevant period there was little

trespass into the growing crop by local inhabitants, and in my judgment such use as there was would

4
Page 61



not have appeared to be the assertion of a right by the local community, but rather as use by
individuals as trespassers. However, by about 1994, local residents had begun to use the field more
widely, even during the growing period, and by this time, in my judgment, a reasonable landowner
looking at the position would have regarded this use as the assertion of a right by the local
community to recreate on the land as a whole. Accordingly, from 1994 onwards, but not before, it
would have been reasonable to expect the landowner to resist or restrict the use if he wished to avoid

the possibility of the land being registered as a village green.

In my judgment therefore, the Applicant has failed to show that the application land has been used as
of right by a significant number of local inhabitants for the whole of the relevant period, but has only
succeeded in showing that it has been so used since about 1994. The application should be rejected

for this reason”.

Steps taken by landowner

11. In relation to the issue of what steps had been taken by the landowner in the relevant period,
the inspector made various findings as to what had been done on the site. She concluded that

(at paragraphs 18.55-57):

“In my judgment the two signs which had been erected within the relevant period were appropriately
positioned in relation to the two entrances to the field to which they related. The combination of the
two signs together with the new locked gate were in my judgment sufficient to convey to any
reasonable member of the public using those entrances to the field the fact that his access to and use

of the land was no longer going to be tolerated.

Although the Applicant urged me to find that the failure to erect a sign at the entrance to the field at
the end of the Richmond Road cul de sac, or, as 1 find, at the entrance from Grasmere Road within the
relevant period, meant that the message that use had become contentious would not have been
effectively communicated to those using the field, in fact, it is apparent that the signs quickly became
notorious, so that even those users, such as Mrs Watkins, who habitually used the Richmond Road
entrance and walked a circuit within the field, would have been likely, if they used the field, to have

5
Page 62



been aware of the fact that their use of the land was contentious before the end of the relevant period.
Although the issue is not what the users, subjectively, understood, but rather what a reasonable user
would have understood, in arriving at an assessment as to what a reasonable user would have

understood, I am entitled to and do have regard to what the users actually understood.

Standing back and looking at the situation as a whole, I am satisfied that by erecting notices reading
“Private Land No Trespassing” at either end of the Ridgeway boundary of the field, the landowner
took reasonable steps, proportionate to the user which he wished to prevent, to bring his opposition to
the use of his land by local people for recreation to the actual notice of those using his land. These
signs would have conveyed to a reasonable user the fact of the landowner’s .. and his intention, if the

signs were ignored, to take further steps by obstruction or legal action.”
12. At the end of her report (section 21, paragraphs 21.13) she stated:

“I was not satisfied that the level of use of the land as a whole at the beginning of the relevant period
and up until about 1994 was sufficient to signify the assertion of a right by the local inhabitants.
Furthermore I was not satisfied that use as of right continued right to the end of the relevant period
15™ September 1984-15" September 2004: in my judgment the combination of the two “PRIVATE
PROPERTY NO TRESPASSING” signs which were erected on the Ridgeway boundary of the field on
7" September 2004, together with the erection and padlocking of a new gate on 14" September 2004,
was sufficient to convey to any reasonable member of the public using those entrances to the field the
fact that his access to and use of the land was no longer going to be tolerated. Accordingly, use as of
right in this case ceased before the end of the relevant period. The application should be rejected for

this reason.”

Issues raised by applicant — assessment.

13. The applicant now claims that the inspector has made a ‘number of fundamental errors of

approach in her report’ which it is said render the recommendation to reject ‘unsound'””. A

" Letter dated 18.12.12, page 1.

Page 63



number of points are raised in the letter dated the 18" December 2012 (‘the letter’) and I deal

with each in turn.

Erroneous test?

14.

15.

16.

17.

First, it is contended that the inspector applied her own ‘extra statutory test for whether the

use of the pastures qualifies to allow registration’".

The inspector noted in several places and in broadly similar terms in her report (as referred to
in the letter, p.2) that a relevant issue was whether the use has been as such as would have
appeared to a reasonable landowner to be the exercise of a public right and/or whether a

reasonable landowner would have regarded people using the land...as doing so as of right.

As a matter of law it is clear, following R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland [2010] UKSC 11

that, the tripartite test of whether the user was nec vi, nec clam, nec precario (without force,
secrecy or permission) was sufficient to establish whether local inhabitants use of land for
lawful sports and pastimes was ‘as of right’ for the purpose of s.15 of the 2006 Act. The
unifying element in each of these three vitiating circumstances is that each constitutes a
reason why it would not be reasonable to expect the owner to resist the exercise of the right

claimed.

However, when considering such matters it is important to remember that the rationale behind
‘as of right’ is acquiescence. The landowner must be in a position to know that a right is
being asserted and acquiesce in the assertion of the right (i.e. not resist or permit). It is well
settled that what matters therefore — when considering the evidence what can properly be a

relevant consideration — is how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the land.

2 Letter page 1

Page 64



18. In Redcar (which was primarily a case about legal consequences of deference), the Supreme
Court clarified that deference is neither an additional requirement to the definition of use as of

right not a bar to registration in any event.

19. The inspector, as I have noted above, recommended rejection partly on the basis that the use
of the land in the period 1984-1994 was not sufficient to have had the appearance of a right to
use the whole of the application land. It was the level and sufficiency of the use that she was
concerned with in recommending rejection. In particular, her view was that in the earlier
years there was little trespass into the growing crop by local inhabitants so that a significant

number of them could not be said to have used it as of right.

20. In the context of whether the nature of the use was sufficient Lord Hoffman was clear in
Sunningwell that there may be cases where * the user is so trivial or sporadic so as not to

carry the outward appearance of user as of right".

21. As a matter of law it is relevant in such a context — whilst accepting that each case will
depends on the particular facts and be a matters evident — to consider whether the user
enabled a reasonable landowner to know that local inhabitants were carrying out activities on
his land. As to the nature of the user, in the Oxfordshire'* case Lord Hoffman noted — in the
context of considering evidence of types of use (dog walking, recreational walking on track)-

that Lightman J had provided sensible guidance at first instance. Lightman J had" said:

‘The critical question must be how the matter would have appeared to a reasonable landowner
observing the user made of his land, and in particular whether the user of tracks would have

appeared to be referable to use as a public footpath, user for recreational activities or both’

22. It is well settled law, as I have noted above, that what matters in such instances — in the

context of user as of right —is how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the land

B At 357D
4 12006] UKHL 25
> At 702-703

Page 65



(or if there were an absentee owner to the reasonable owner on the spot). That was affirmed in
Redcar by Lord Walker'®. The subjective belief of users of the land is irrelevant. As Redcar
made clear however it is relevant to ask, to the extent I have explained above, how the use

would have appeared to a reasonable landowner.

23. In such a context I do not consider that the overall approach by the inspector is in error. She
has set out the correct overall legal test'’ and applied it properly in my view. The issue of
what a reasonable landowner would have considered was not being used as a distinct test
which sought to add to or supplant the tripartite test relating to use as of right, but rather as a
relevant consideration and question in addressing aspects of the tripartite test as well as in the

context of sufficiency and adequacy of any such use.

24. The applicant’s letter suggests that use by a significant number of residents for lawful sports
or pastimes will ipso fact be user of such amount and in such a manner as would reasonably
be regarded as being the assertion of a public right- so that, it is argued, the underlined
sentence from Lord Hope (ref pages 3 and 4 of the applicant letter) in Redcar was merely
recapitulating what he had just said previously. In my view Lord Hope was accepting - in
line with earlier authorities — that in answering whether there has been a sufficiency of user in
terms of adequacy and sufficiency of use it may be relevant to ask what would have been

‘reasonably regarded’ as having taken place by a landowner.

25. The quote from Lord Brown (p.4) in the letter is again in my view taken somewhat out of
context. At that stage of his judgment Lord Brown was concerned with the position where

land had been extensively used and so no issues of adequacy or sufficiency were in issue.

16 At paras 36 (‘how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the land’), 67 ( ‘as would be reasonably
be regarded’)
7 see for example at para 3.8, p.8-9

Page 66



26. The position is in fact also made clear by the further case relied upon by the applicant,

London Tara Hotel v Kensington [2011] EWCA 1356 — although not in a part of the

judgment of Lord Neuberger referred in the letter. At paragraph 29 of the judgment the court
made it clear that for the landowner (Tara) to succeed in showing that no prescriptive rights

had accrued:

“it seems to me clear that Tara would have to show that the use of the roadway from 1980 by KCH
and its predecessors was vi , clam , or precario , when judged by the actual use as viewed from the

perspective of a reasonable person in the position of Tara”.

27. In short, it is relevant to consider what the hypothetical reasonable landowner would have
regarded such use as being ‘as of right’. That was exactly the test being suggested by the

inspector in the various references referred to by the applicant.

28. Taken in isolation and out of context, I accept that some parts of the report might appear to

place too much emphasis on the views of a reasonable landowner. However, read as a whole I

do not consider there to be an identifiable error of law in approach by the inspector.

Wrongly discounting use of tracks across and around the land (and other evidence of use of the

whole field)

29. The applicant has set out various quotes from the report in the letter (from paragraphs 17.25,

23.10" & 17.39).

30. The thrust of the point being made appears to be that the inspector was wrong to exclude or

discount use of tracks for walking and/or the areas along the brook and perimeter footpath.

" NB -1do not have a paragraph 23.10 in my report — my report ends at para 22.2)

10
Page 67



31. I do not consider there to be force in this point. Whilst each case needs to be considered on
the particular facts it is - in principle — legally acceptable to make such discounts. I refer to

relevant law below.

32. Walking of a character as might give rise to a presumption of a dedication as a public right of
way or which appears to a reasonable landowner as being an exercise of a right of way might
be considered not to justify registration'®. The courts have recognised that it is sensible to
look at the user as a whole and decide, adopting a common sense approach, to what — if any —
claim the use is referable. The issue arose in Laing Homes [2004] 1 P & CR 36 and Sullivan J

discussed the approach at paragraphs 102-110 especially.

33. I note that the inspector quoted such passages in her report™. It is clearly permissible in law,
depending on the facts, for elements of such use to be discounted. I have considered the
approach to evidence set out in the report by the inspector. I consider her suggested approach
for the registration authority to take set out in paragraphs 11.32-36 of the report to be correct
in terms of the legal approach. In my view the inspector has applied such legal principles and

formed her conclusions in a way that appears”' to be reasonable.

34. Nor do I consider there to be merit in the suggestion that the findings in relation to rubbish (
paragraph 17.29) were ‘bizarre’ but that is a matter that the authority may wish to consider, it

having been raised by the applicant.

Treading down grass

* Hoffman in Oxfordshire at 702-3 referring to Lightman J at first instance at 102-3.
%% paragraphs 11.28ff
?1 S0 far as | can tell without having seen the evidence

11
Page 68



35.

This issue was considered by the inspector but did not form part of her reasons for
recommending rejection given her other findings®. In paragraph 21.11 of her report she

indicated:

“Although I recommend rejecting the application for other reasons, I consider that it is strongly

arguable that such use of the application land, other than the paths, as there was during the growing

season was not use for lawful sports and pastimes because it damaged the growing crop.”

36.

37.

38.

The inspector formed the view on the evidence that such activity as she referred to (see

paragraphs 17.47-53 especially) rendered certain elements of the use unlawful.

The use of the word lawful has been interpreted by reference to the old caselaw — in particular

Fitch v Fitch (1797) 2 Esp 543. Lord Hope in Redcar stated that the case of Fitch indicates

“that the user must not be such as would be likely to cause injury or damage to the owner’s
property”®. Thus, it is the manner in which the sport or pastime is carried out that is relevant

to its manner, and not merely the nature of the sport or pastime per se.

I do not consider that the applicant is correct to assert (page 7 of letter) that walking (for
example) would be lawful even if criminal offences were carried out at the same time as such
a pastime. Such a proposition does not accord with Redcar. In addition, an offence under
section lof the CJA can be committed either intentionally or recklessly” so that the
comments by the applicant as to the inability of the registration authority to agree with the
inspector — especially in light of her approach in paragraph 17.50 — is in my view also

incorrect.

2 see paragraph 17.47

2 At paragraph 67

** Where a defendant is aware of the risk of damage being causedand it is unreasonable to take the risk —see R
v G [2004] 1 ACHL

12
Page 69



39.

40.

I do not consider the reference in Bakewell is of assistance to the applicant. The case did not
directly concern village greens and in any event the relevance of it was correctly considered

by the inspector at paragraph 17.52 of the report.

But the key point here is that the registration authority need not place any reliance on this
aspect of the report in any event as it did not form part of her reasoning for recommending

rejection.

Wrongly attributing decisive weight to the use of the land in the growing season

41.

42.

In the letter (p.8) the applicant refers to various facts found by the inspector. The argument
that follows is somewhat repetitive and reliant upon earlier arguments which I have dealt with

above. Reliance is then (p.9) placed on Redcar and the judgement of Lord Walker to illustrate

the point that hay meadows were not intended to be excluded from registration. In fairness to
the inspector she has extensively quoted from and analysed the judgment of Lord Walker in
Redcar and accepted in part the general contentions argued for by the applicant at the inquiry

— see especially paragraphs 11.12-11.13.

I consider the analysis of the inspector to be sound and her findings reasonable in light of the
evidence and law she refers to. I do not consider that the arguments put forward by the
applicant under this heading provide any basis for suggesting the report was flawed in law or

approach.

Inconsistent/flawed approach to the question of the landowner’s contestation of the use.

43.

The applicant in essence contends that on the facts found relating to steps taken by the
landowner ( notices and locked gate) the inspector was wrong to find that the landowner took
reasonable steps, proportionate to the user which he wished to prevent, to bring his opposition
to the use of his land by local people for recreation to the actual notice of those using his land

and that these signs would have conveyed to a reasonable user the fact of the landowner’s

13
Page 70



44,

opposition and his intention, if the signs were ignored, to take further steps by obstruction or

legal action.

I do not consider the approach of the inspector was inconsistent or unfair as is alleged in the
letter. The inspector accurately set out the applicable and relevant law (see especially report at
paragraphs 18.2-18.16) and addressed properly the points raised by the parties on this issue -
with particular reference to the CA in Betterment. The applicant is correct in saying that the
registration authority is entitled to disagree with the inspector, but I do not consider there to

be an obvious basis for so doing.

Approach of the registration authority

45.

46.

47.

I have reviewed the points raised by the applicant above. I do not consider them to have merit

for the reasons I have expressed.

The role of the registration authority at this stage is to determine the application and in doing
so to take into account all relevant considerations and in particular the matters set out in

regulation 28 of the 2008 regulations and the matters set out in relevant Defra guidance™.

That exercise will need, obviously, to include careful consideration of not only the report but
the representations received from the parties and the matters referred to in them™. In that
regard the decision makers will need to grapple with the points raised and at least indicate that
they have been considered. How they are approached is a matter for the authority. I have
provided my view on the basis of the documents I have been provided with and focussing

primarily on issues of law that have been raised.

» Sept 2011 to pilot authorities, section on determination especially:
http://archive.defra.gov.uk/rural/documents/protected/common-land/craguide.pdf

*® For example the opening/closing submissions referred to in the letter from the applicant, p.2, 3" paragraph.
| have not seen such submissions.

14
Page 71



48.

49.

Any subsequent challenge by way of judicial review to a decision will face a number of
hurdles provided that the decision process has properly considered relevant matters. I do not
descend into detail in this advice as the broad ambit of such challenges will, no doubt, be well

known to those instructing me.

If I can be of any further assistance please do not hesitate to contact me.

Tom Cosgrove 31* January 2013
Cornerstone Barristers
2-3 Gray’s Inn Square

London WCIR 5JH

15
Page 72



	Agenda
	3 Application to register land at Ursuline Drive at Westgate as a new Village Green
	4 Application to register land known as Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable as a new Village Green

